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MD and CEO
mESSAGE

MD and CEO
mESSAGE

Since our inception in 2017, our vision has been clear: to create a 
homegrown beer brand that resonates with the evolving spirit of Indian 
consumers. This vision has guided us to take thoughtful, weathered yet 
some industry first decisions, remain focused on quality and steadily 
expand our presence across new geographies. FY25 was a year of 
growth and conviction-a year where we challenged conventions, 
scaled new heights and laid a stronger foundation for the future.

Dear Shareholders, 
It gives me immense pride and responsibility to present 

the Annual Report for FY25. At Medusa Beverages, we are 
not just building a beer company-we are shaping a 

new-age alcobev platform that embodies the aspirations 
of modern India: bold, dynamic and uncompromising on 

quality. 

Performance
Highlights FY25
FY25 was among the most defining years in our journey so far, marked by achievements across scale, portfolio expansion, operational capabilities, and
financial strength.�

Scale & Growth:
For the first time, we achieved a 
milestone volume of ~1 million 
cases with 15% sales from our 
premium portfolio, representing 
40% YoY growth. This milestone not 
only reflects strong consumer 
demand but also validates our 
ability to execute consistently 

across diverse markets. 

Portfolio Expansion:
Our mild beer variant, Medusa Air, 
completed its first full year of 
operations in Delhi, our home state, 
crossing 1 Lakh cases. Its success 
underscores the growing demand for 
premium format of products that align 
with modern consumer preferences 

and rising consumer spend. 

Premium Innovation:
We launched a limited-edition 
premium strong beer in partnership 
with Warner Bros. - Medusa x House of 
the Dragon. Brewed with roasted malt 
for a distinctive flavor, this launch 
showcased our ability to blend global 
brand narratives with high-quality 
brewing, strengthening our positioning 

as a premium lifestyle brand.

Capital Raise:
We successfully completed our Series 
A fundraise of INR 56 Cr from marquee 
investors. This infusion of capital 
strengthens our capital adequacy, 
supports working capital and enables 
investment in furtherance of business, 
infrastructure, talent and general 

corporate purposes.

New Market Entry:
We successfully entered Central India, 
unlocking Chhattisgarh with our 
flagship variant - Medusa Premium 
Strong Beer, which crossed 1 Lakh 
cases in its very first year of launch. 
This marked an important step 
towards building a pan-India footprint 
and also re-instates our widespread 

product market-fit.

Capacity Expansion:
We tied up with two additional 
breweries in North and Central India, 
expanding our production capacity by 
50% to 2 Lakh HLPA. With five 
strategically located contract 
manufacturing units, we are better 
positioned to serve demand efficiently 
while maintaining tight quality control. 

Digital & Process 
Transformation:

We initiated the upgradation of our 
process control systems and embarked 
the transition from Tally ERP 9 to 
Microsoft Dynamics which strengthened 
our internal controls, giving headway for 
automation, enhanced governance and 

transparent control. 

Organisational 
Strengthening:

We continued investing in human 
capital and institutional processes, 
ensuring that Medusa evolves into a 
scalable, future-ready organization. 
Afterall, a company is what the team 

is.

Market Share Leadership:
In Delhi, our largest market, we continued to hold a ~10% market share, maintaining our position as one of the leading beer brands in the region. 

FY25 was also a year of bold expansion. Our entry into Chhattisgarh was more than a geographic extension—it was a strategic step towards regional 
diversification and building a true national presence. With operations now spanning across seven states in North and Central India, Medusa is on track to build 
a stronger and more balanced geographic footprint. 

We now operate through five brewery partners with a combined annual production capacity of 2 Lakh HLPA. This capacity is not just about scale; it is about 
ensuring that quality, efficiency and responsiveness to demand remain uncompromised. A model built on strong brewery partnerships continues to give us 
flexibility while keeping capital requirements in check. 

While volume and revenue defines performance, the true strength of Medusa lies in the brand equity we are 
creating in India. In FY25, we sold nearly 1 million cases, but what excites us more is how the brand is increasingly 
being seen as consumer’s first choice when it comes to opting for a beer with top-notch quality and drinkability. 
Medusa is, for sure, creating a community for beer enthusiasts who want to have an Indian homegrown brand 
which outpaces the international peers. 

With consumer spend exceeding INR 270 Cr, Medusa has moved beyond being a product to becoming a brand 
that consumers identify with. We are trusted for quality, valued for authenticity and appreciated for the 
experiences we create. This emotional connect is a competitive advantage in an industry where consumer loyalty 
is hard-won and even harder to retain. 

Beyond Numbers: Building Brand Equity 

Regional Diversification and Capacity Enhancement:

~1 Mn Cases
with 15% sales from premium portfolio

40% 56 cr raised
in series A

Exclusive PartnershipYoY
Growth Warner Brothers
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MD and CEO
mESSAGE

MD and CEO
mESSAGE

• Medusa Premium Strong Beer – our flagship variant, built on consistency, strength and trust. 

• Medusa Air Mild Beer – a lighter, refreshing format for evolving consumer tastes. 

• Medusa x House of the Dragon – strong beer in our premium portfolio with roasted malts, launched in collaboration with the global IP of Warner Bros. 

Today, our portfolio includes three distinctive beer variants, each brewed with purpose:

Portfolio & Brand 

Fundraise: Fuel for the Next Chapter 

Perhaps, the most defining achievement of FY25 was the successful completion of our Series A fundraise of INR 56 Cr. For us, this is more than capital-it is a 
strong vote of confidence in our vision, our team and the opportunity we are unlocking. These funds will power our next phase of growth: scaling infrastructure, 
deepening market penetration and investing in innovation. 

Strategy Ahead,
As we look towards FY26 and beyond, our strategy remains sharply defined: 
Sustain Growth: Continue on a strong trajectory, targeting significant volume growth and market share expansion. 

Premium Portfolio Expansion: Scale the availability of Medusa Air and Medusa x House of the Dragon across new states to strengthen 
premium positioning. 

Operational Efficiency: Leveraging robust distribution and exploring backward integration to improve margins and accelerate 
profitability. 

Geographic Diversification: Expand into South and Central India, building a pan-India presence and mitigating seasonal dependence. 

Digital Transformation: Fully integrate ERP and CRM systems, embedding data-driven insights into core decision-making. 

Brand Building: Deepen consumer engagement and reinforce Medusa as a trusted household name in India’s beer market. 

FY25 has been a year of milestones and momentum. Yet, as we celebrate our achievements, we remain mindful of the responsibility that comes with growth. 

Governance, compliance and integrity remain central to our strategy, ensuring that Medusa continues to build scale, strength and credibility. 

To our employees, partners, investors and consumers - I extend my heartfelt gratitude. Your trust fuels our ambition and your belief strengthens our resolve. 

Together, we are building something far greater than a beer brand. We are shaping a new cultural narrative for beer in India—one that reflects freedom, 

authenticity and aspiration.  The decade ahead belongs to us. Medusa is ready to lead from the front. 

Closing Note

Cheers,

Mr. Avneet Singh, Managing Director & CEO 
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Director's
Notes

Director's
Notes

FY25 has been a year that reminded us that growth is not just about strategy-it’s about execution, consistency and resilience. As an Executive 

Director at Medusa Beverages, I’ve had the privilege of working closely with our teams on the ground, across functions and geographies, to 

bring our bold ambitions to life. 

From managing the fast-paced expansion into new states, to scaling up our backend systems and brewery operations, to ensuring smooth 

market activation across a diverse footprint-our ability to stay agile, act fast and solve in real time has been our biggest strength. 

What stands out to me this year is the entrepreneurial energy that runs through our company. Whether it’s the sales team delivering 

numbers in competitive markets or the supply team ensuring timely stock movement or brewery partners maintaining quality standards-we 

operate like owners, not employees. And that’s what makes Medusa different. 

As we look ahead, our focus remains on building seamless systems, driving operational excellence and preparing the business for its next 

phase of scale. I’m proud of what we’ve achieved, but more excited by what we’re about to unlock. 

Thank you for believing in the spirit of Medusa. 

Mr. Amardeep Singh, Executive Director

Mr. Balinder Singh – Executive Director

The past year at Medusa Beverages has been a powerful example of what can happen when a young, passionate team comes together with a shared 

purpose. I’ve witnessed first-hand the grit, discipline and dedication with which every member of our team has embraced the challenges of a fast-growing 

business. 

We scaled into new geographies, expanded production, launched variants and improved margins-not by luck, but through tight coordination, data-driven 

decision-making and day-to-day ownership from every function. Our teams are lean but highly effective. Our systems are still evolving, but grounded in 

discipline. And our culture is one that encourages problem-solving, creativity and mutual respect. 

At Medusa, we are building not just a brand, but a future-ready organization-one that can withstand scale, complexity and competition without losing 

agility. We’re investing in our people, upgrading our capabilities and staying focused on long-term, responsible growth. 

FY25 was a year of laying strong foundations. FY26 will be about accelerating forward-with sharper tools, stronger teams and even bigger goals. I’m 

excited for what lies ahead and grateful for the trust and belief you’ve placed in us. 
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Key
Highlights

FASTEST GROWING
BEER BRAND OF INDIA

7STATES

5BREWERIES

3 BEER
PORTFOLIO

PRODUCTION
CAPACITY

2L HLPA

~10L CASES
VOLUME (40% YoY GROWTH)

270+ CR
CONSUMER SPEND

156+ CR
GROSS REVENUE

66+ CR
NET REVENUE (30% YoY Growth)

8,000+
OUTLETS COVERED

100+ EMPLOYEES
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About the
company

Innovation Layer:
Untapped Potential

Enhancement Layer:
Premium Offerings

The Foundational
Layer: Mass Brand

Kegs,
Craft beer

Air Mild,
House of the Dragon

Premium Strong Beer

Growth Pyramid Framework

Well-rounded product lineup to solidify market position and profitability,
Venture into newer, untapped categories, capturing niche markets

With solid foundation in place, additional premium beer offerings
to cater broader audiences

Strong, mass market beer: foundational cornerstone of portfolio,
driving volume and brand visibility

Medusa has demonstrated ingenuity in consumer engagement. The company invests in co-branded partnerships, experiential activations, digital-first 

campaigns and brand merchandise to extend its reach and build loyalty.

Medusa’s growth has been supported by its agile operating model, strong governance and performance-driven culture. With a lean management structure 

and disciplined execution, the company is able to adapt swiftly to market conditions, replicate its proven success formula in new regions and sustain 

operational efficiency. This foundation has enabled Medusa to grow steadily while safeguarding its focus on quality and long-term value creation. 

Today, Medusa Beverages stands as a trusted name in the alcobev landscape of India, with a clear reputation for quality, innovation and operational 

excellence. The company’s journey reflects a balance of strategic focus and bold ambition-one that has allowed it to scale rapidly while maintaining consumer 

trust and brand strength. 

Medusa's approach to product portfolio expansion is built on a layered growth strategy i.e. Growth Pyramid, a methodical framework designed to establish a strong foundation,

enhance offerings and tap into untapped opportunities. This strategy ensures both market penetration and premiumization while driving sustainable growth and profitability. 

Founded in 2017 and headquartered in New Delhi, Medusa Beverages has rapidly emerged as a dynamic and high-growth player in India’s alcoholic beverages (alcobev) industry. In less than a decade, the company has built a strong 

presence in the beer category, with operations spanning seven states by FY25-Delhi, Uttar Pradesh, Uttarakhand, Punjab, Himachal Pradesh, Chandigarh and Chhattisgarh. Focused on delivering high-quality beer, Medusa has consistently 

catered to the evolving tastes of Indian consumers while building a reputation for reliability and excellence. 

At the heart of Medusa’s journey are its guiding principles of Bold Innovation, Relentless Quality and Market Leadership. These values shape every aspect of the company’s business, from product development and operational execution to brand-building initiatives. With quality as a 

non-negotiable foundation, Medusa has consistently set benchmarks in the industry, proving that a focused and disciplined approach yields lasting consumer trust.  The company’s flagship offering, Medusa Premium Strong Beer, was the cornerstone of its early strategy. For the first 

five years, Medusa deliberately concentrated on mastering its value chain around this single product. This approach allowed the company to refine its brewing processes, optimize its supply chain and deeply understand consumer preferences before scaling operations. The results were 

remarkable - Medusa Premium Strong crossed 2 Lakh cases in its first year of launch in Delhi alone, a milestone that validated both the strategy and the strength of consumer acceptance.

Building on this success, Medusa pursued a measured expansion strategy, entering new markets gradually and tailoring its approach to the unique dynamics of each state. The company partnered with regional breweries to ensure operational efficiency while gaining on-the-ground 

insights into local markets. This thoughtful, adaptive model enabled Medusa to secure a stronghold across northern India and establish itself as a trusted brand with consistent consumer pull.  In recent years, Medusa has expanded its portfolio to offer greater variety and establishing  

premium positioning. In 2023, we launched Medusa Air, a distinct mild beer variant designed to meet evolving consumer tastes and demand for diverse drinking experiences. In 2024, the brand positioning was further elevated with a co-branded strong beer with Warner Bros. - Medusa 

x House of the Dragon.  
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Our Guiding
Principles
Our Guiding
Principles

At Medusa Beverages, we believe beer is not just a product-it’s a powerful cultural force. Our ethos 

reflects our unwavering commitment to building more than just a beer brand. We are here to spark a 

movement that redefines what beer means to the new generation of Indian consumers. 

We are bold in vision, unafraid to challenge the status quo and push boundaries-whether through 

fearless innovation in brewing, pioneering partnerships or reimagining how beer connects with lifestyle 

and identity. 

We are uncompromising in quality, ensuring that every batch we brew meets the highest standards of 

craftsmanship, consistency and authenticity. We take pride in delivering beer that’s as reliable in taste as 

it is bold in spirit. 

We are rooted in culture, with a deep respect for the social, creative and emotional role that beer plays in 

people’s lives. Our brand is built where real conversations happen-across bars, festivals, music, sports, 

design and digital experiences. 

And we are built for the future-led by a new-age mindset that is agile, responsible and purpose-driven. 

As a modern brand in a regulated industry, we scale responsibly, celebrate individuality and embrace 

innovation to shape the future of India’s beer story. 

Medusa is not just about what’s in the bottle-it’s about what the bottle represents: freedom, creativity, 

authenticity and a new cultural language of beer for modern India. 

“Bold in Vision. Uncompromising in Quality.
Rooted in Culture. Built for the Future.”�

"We move fast, think bold and build responsibly—
with our consumer at the heart and quality in every drop." 

>>>>

Create With Courage:
We don’t follow trends-we create them. From brewing techniques to branding to consumer 

engagement, we embrace fresh thinking and unconventional ideas to stay ahead of the curve. 

Brew With Precision:
No matter the scale, speed or pressure-quality is non-negotiable. We 

deliver excellence in every can, every case and every touchpoint.

Move Fast, Think Long-Term:
Speed is our advantage but never at the cost of purpose. We act 

quickly with clarity and scale responsibly with a long-term view.

Build the Brand, Not Just the Business:
Short-term gains don’t override long-term brand love. We prioritize equity over noise.

Grow with Responsibility:
As we scale, we do so ethically and consciously. We promote responsible 

drinking, comply fully with regulations and prioritize sustainable practices. 

Own It, End to End:
We operate with an entrepreneurial mindset. We take initiative, solve problems proactively 

and stay accountable for results. 

Hustle Hard:
We show up with purpose and unstoppable hustle, believing that consistent execution builds lasting 

impact.
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1

Millennial-Centric Innovation

2

43

Our
Competitive

Strengths:

Driven by a deep passion for brewing, quality craftsmanship lies at the heart of Medusa’s 

philosophy, seamlessly integrated across its entire value chain. From the outset, Medusa 

partners with top-tier, industry-preferred vendors through a stringent onboarding 

process that ensures only the best inputs are used. At the heart of this process is 

Medusa’s highly skilled master brewer, who meticulously safeguards the integrity

of every recipe, ensuring consistency in flavor and quality across

every batch. With regular quality checks and unwavering attention 

to detail, Medusa continues to deliver a product that stands out,

reinforcing its dedication to precision and

premium craftsmanship.

Gold Standard Brewing

Founded by Avneet Singh, an entrepreneur with over a decade of

expertise in multi-state licensing, distribution and retail, Medusa

is uniquely positioned as a brand that understands the

complexities of the Indian alcobev market. Avneet brings extensive

experience in navigating regulatory landscapes, mastering distribution

networks and building market presence for leading international brands-insights that have 

been instrumental in shaping Medusa’s growth journey. Under his leadership, Medusa has 

built a reputation for operational excellence, ensuring that every product is crafted with 

precision and delivered with consistency.

Legacy of Founder’s Vast Experience
across all the value chain touchpoints:

With a distribution network of over 8,000 retail outlets and a strong

presence across seven North Indian states, Medusa Beverages has 

firmly established itself as a prominent player in the beer segment.  

The brand holds a double-digit market share in Delhi (10%+), while also witnessing 

consistent growth momentum in Uttar Pradesh and Uttarakhand, reflecting its ability 

to resonate with regional preferences and adapt to local consumer tastes. Positioned 

as an accessible yet homegrown premium brand, Medusa has successfully bridged 

the gap between aspiration and affordability for beer drinkers across North India. 

Strong Consumer Recognition in
North India and Local Edge:

Medusa resonates strongly with millennials by offering unique, contemporary flavors that

blend premium quality with affordability-allowing young consumers to enjoy high-quality

beer without compromising on value. The brand’s bold and playful packaging, along with

creatively crafted product names, is designed to reflect the individuality

and lifestyle of the modern millennial. Strategic collaborations with

global IPs such as Warner Bros.’ House of the Dragon have

further enhanced Medusa’s brand appeal, reinforcing its

position as a culturally relevant and aspirational beer

brand.



L Our StrategyOur Strategy

From its inception, Medusa has prioritized the growth of its 

flagship product-Medusa Premium Strong Beer-which currently 

accounts for approximately 85% of the company’s total sales. 

After successfully creating a strong demand pull and scaling this 

variant, Medusa introduced premium extensions such as Medusa 

Air Mild Beer and Medusa X House of the Dragon to enhance 

overall margin performance. Going forward, the company is 

focused on building a well-rounded beer portfolio spanning all 

four key segments-strong, mild, mass and premium-to cater to 

diverse consumer preferences and establish itself as a 

comprehensive, one-brand beer destination.

Building the Growth Pyramid:
Scaling Core Offerings and
Expanding Premium Range

Medusa is focused on strengthening its brand presence and 

delivering an elevated customer experience by building a 

robust omnichannel distribution network-covering both 

off-trade (retail) and on-trade (bars, restaurants, clubs) 

channels. On-trade presence plays a critical role in true 

brand building by allowing consumers to experience the 

product in a curated, social setting that enhances brand 

perception, encourages trial and fosters loyalty. To further 

enrich the tasting experience, Medusa is planning to 

introduce fresh beers through kegs in key markets such as 

Delhi and Haryana. This initiative not only serves as a 

powerful consumer engagement tool but also acts as a proof 

of concept for future taproom operations-laying the 

groundwork for deeper experiential branding and premium 

positioning.

Enhancing Customer Experience
through On-Trade Penetration: 

Medusa is committed to strengthening its presence in 

existing markets by expanding its distribution network and 

penetrating deeper into new districts, towns, and wholesale 

channels within operational states. To mitigate the seasonal 

demand fluctuations, the company is also focused on 

reaching new customer segments by entering additional 

regions. Expanding into southern and eastern states 

represents a critical step toward establishing a true 

pan-India presence. These regions offer diverse consumer 

preferences and year-round beer consumption patterns, 

providing Medusa with the opportunity to build a broader, 

more resilient market base while enhancing national brand 

visibility and driving long-term growth.

Expanding distribution footprint
across existing and new geographies:

Medusa is focused on strengthening its digital backbone by 

implementing advanced technology solutions across key 

organizational functions. This includes ERP deployment 

through Microsoft Dynamics to streamline operations, sales 

reporting and workflow automation with Salesforce and 

HRMS implementation to ensure efficient and seamless 

execution of people-related processes. Investing in process 

automation and digital infrastructure will not only drive 

operational efficiency and data-driven decision-making but 

also improve agility, reduce manual errors and foster greater 

transparency and collaboration across teams-laying the 

foundation for scalable and sustainable growth.

Build Tech Infra for process automation:
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Core Brand
Portfolio

PREMIUM STRONG BEER
ABV: 5.9%
Colour : Gold 

Low Medium High

9 to 12 IBU

Brewed with 6 row Indian Barley Malt

Made with Cascade Hops

Crispy, Zesty and Refreshing

Available in Pints, Cans and Bottles

Beer Style: Lager
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Core Brand
Portfolio

Core Brand
Portfolio

AIR MILD BEER
ABV: 4.5%
Colour : Pale Gold

Low Medium High

8 to 10 IBU

Brewed with 2 Row Barley Malt

Made with Cascade & Saaz Hops

Smooth, Quenching and Balanced

Available in Pints and Cans

Beer Style: Lager
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Portfolio

Core Brand
Portfolio

Colour : Deep Amber

Low Medium High

10 to 13 IBU

HOUSE OF THE DRAGON:
FIRE EDITION
ABV: 5.5%
Brewed with Roasted Barley Malt

Made with Magnum Hops

Bold, Vibrant and Satisfying

Available in Cans

Beer Style: Lager

Only Indian Beer Company
to successfully launch
in collaboration with 

Roasted by the Dragons
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Recognitions
Awards and

Recognitions

BEST F&B BUSINESS
OF THE YEAR - 2019

BEST PACKAGING - 2019 BEST PACKAGING - 2022

LIQUID TASTING - 2023 START-UP OF THE YEAR - 2023 BEST PACKAGING - 2023

LIQUID TASTING - 2024 BEST EMERGING BEVERAGE
BRAND OF THE YEAR

BEST BEVERAGE BRAND
OF THE YEAR - 2025

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25 CORPORATE OVERVIEW STATUTORY REPORTS FINANCIALS 15



ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25 CORPORATE OVERVIEW STATUTORY REPORTS FINANCIALS 16



L

Gross Revenue (in INR Crores)

132.22

156.08

37.70
46.24

18.80

50.08

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Volume (in lakh cases)

6.80

9.50

2.862.79

3.70 3.30

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Volume split - by pack type Volume split - by beer type

1%
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FY2025: A LANDMARK YEAR OF EXPANSION AND DIVERSIFICATION

FY2025 was a breakthrough year for Medusa Beverages, cementing its status as a high growth brand in India’s beer landscape.

The company achieved its highest-ever annual volume of ~1M cases, reflecting a remarkable 40%  YoY growth over FY2024’s 6.80 lakh cases.

Key Growth Insights

Delhi At The Core, Premium Portfolio Expands The Story:
Delhi remained the company’s largest market, contributing 5.4 lakh cases during the 

year. All three beer variants were present in the state and the market continued to 

demonstrate strong and sustained growth momentum, reinforcing Medusa’s 

leadership position in this mature and highly competitive region.

Chhattisgarh Unlocked:
The company unlocked Chhattisgarh, contributing 1.4 lakh cases in its first full year 

of operations, reflecting Medusa’s growing national footprint and ability to scale in 

new markets efficiently.

Chandigarh & Himachal Pradesh– Stable to Declining Trends:
These micro-markets remained stable with Chandigarh showing a modest increase 

and Himachal Pradesh registering stable volumes with slight impact by seasonal 

factors.

Overall Volume Growth:
Medusa achieved a remarkable growth milestone in FY 2025, with 

volumes rising by 2.7 lakh cases over the previous year-a testament 

to strong consumer demand, deeper market penetration and the 

successful rollout of new variants.

Punjab’s Remarkable Recovery & Rise:
Punjab emerged as a growth engine, crossing 1 Lakh cases in 

FY2025-an impressive 85% growth, supported by stronger trade 

execution and consumer pull.

UP & UK Strengthen Their Presence:
• Uttar Pradesh grew modestly by 13% YoY with presence across 16 

districts. 

• Uttarakhand, an emerging yet quickly growing market for the 

company, nearly doubled its volume in FY2025. 
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PRODUCT-WISE DEVELOPMENTS : STRATEGIC DIVERSIFICATION IN FY2025

Medusa Air Mild Beer, the
Company’s first addition to its 
premium portfolio, completed 

its first full year of operations in 
Delhi, surpassing 1.2 lakh cases 

and consistently ranking 
among the top two brands in 

the mild beer segment.
This strong performance

underscores the Company’s 
ability to rapidly scale

distribution and build market 
presence for newer variants.

Launch of Medusa x House
of the Dragon - a co-branded 

beer in collaboration with 
Warner Bros made a strong 

debut in premium beer
segment. Its distinctive

packaging, strong thematic 
connect and differentiated

positioning helped it in
attracting new cohort of

consumers and expanding 
presence in premium

outlets.

With a strong presence across 
seven states, Medusa Premium 
Strong Beer continued to serve 

as the backbone of the
company's portfolio. Volume 
grew to over 8.2 lakh cases,

underscoring the brand’s
consumer appeal, deep-rooted 

loyalty in its core markets,
effectiveness of the existing

and quickly expanding
distribution network across 
North India and impactful 

in-store availability.

During FY25, the company undertook key product led initiatives and strategic diversification efforts, broadening its portfolio, 
deepening market presence and laying ground work for long term growth.

 

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25 CORPORATE OVERVIEW STATUTORY REPORTS FINANCIALS 19



MARKET SHARE

Medusa Beverages continued to solidify its leadership position in its home state - Delhi, 

consistently ranking among the top five beer brands in both the lager and strong can 

segments throughout the year. The company’s strategic focus on the can format-especially 

in high-volume urban markets-proved highly effective, helping Medusa carve a dominant 

position in a competitive landscape. 

Cans remained the cornerstone of Medusa’s portfolio performance, offering convenience, 

aspirational packaging and wide retail acceptability. This pack type was aggressively scaled 

across all major operational states but Delhi emerged as the highlight of the year. During the 

peak summer demand window of May and June, Medusa topped the charts in the lager cans 

segment, outperforming legacy players and reinforcing its consumer appeal among young, 

urban beer drinkers. 

In terms of overall beer market share, Medusa achieved an impressive ~10% share in Delhi-a 

significant achievement for the company. This growth was supported by a robust distribution 

engine, backed by a highly efficient sales network and nearly 100% off-trade penetration. 

From neighborhood stores to premium retail outlets, Medusa has effectively mastered the 

nuances of retail sales, ensuring visibility, availability and rapid replenishment across every 

relevant shelf. 

Looking ahead, while off-trade remains a stronghold, the company is now poised to deepen 

its presence in the on-trade segment. FY2026 will see a sharper strategic focus on expanding 

into bars, lounges, restaurants and experiential formats across all key markets-aiming to 

enhance brand engagement, drive premium perception and tap into high-margin 

consumption channels. 

With an agile team, proven retail strength and a bold brand identity, Medusa is 

well-positioned to lead the next wave of growth in India’s evolving beer landscape-across all 

the channels of distribution.

10% market share
in delhi

Top Five beer brands in
cans segment in delhi

FY2025
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MEDUSA THROUGH THE YEARS

Inception of Medusa

220K+
Cases sold in FY19-
1st full yr of business 

Premium

2017-19

  

4 New states 

Punjab
Uttar Pradesh 
Chandigarh
Himachal Pradesh

370K+
Cases  sold 

in FY20

Pints trial 
in Delhi

•  
•  
•  
•  

Expanding Regional Footprint

2019-22

2022-23

2.5x
Pre-Covid
Revenue

2 New brewery 
tie-ups

250% YoY 
Volume Growth

Recovery & Volume Momentum

2023-24

680K+ Cases 
sold in
FY23

Uttarakhand
Unlocked 

 

106% 
YoY Volume 

Growth

Introduced 
Mild Beer:

Delhi 
portfolio 

expanded

Scaling distribution with
premium diversification

2024-25

Crossed

156 Cr
Gross Revenue

Co-branded with
Warner Bros for

premium positioning

x

~1 Mn CasesTOP 5 beer brands
in Delhi

Boosting Market Penetration

in Delhi

Strong
Beer
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Indian Beer Market
Segmentation: 

Indian Beer Market
Segmentation: 

Kegs
• primarily used in HoReCa

• provide a draft beer experience 

• Have a short shelf life (of about 3 months, if untapped) 

Glass bottles
• suitable for both on and off-premise

• Offer more versatility than kegs 

• Have a longer shelf life (of about 6-12 months) 

Cans

• Glass bottles traditionally popular due to consumer familiarity  

• Shift towards cans, especially by younger consumers due to 
durability, portability and ease of use 

Current trend in India:

 Beer Packaging:
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Distribution
Channel

Distribution
ChannelBeer sales channel are divided into On Trade and Off Trade. 

Off-Trade channel

Off-Trade channel, covering retail outlets like liquor stores and supermarkets, accounts 

for about 85% of beer sales due to convenience, availability and competitive pricing. 

On-Trade channel

On-Trade channel includes hotels, restaurants and cafes (HoReCa), 

where consumers enjoy drinks on-site. 
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Key Growth Drivers
of Beer Market: 

Key Growth Drivers
of Beer Market: 

Indian beer market has high potential with overall contribution to world market at 2% in 2022. Per capita consumption of beer in India at ~2 L is significantly lower than the global average of ~30L.
A very low base underpinned by positive demographic trends, rising income and growing acceptance of alcoholic beverage is driving growth for beer in India. 

Social acceptance of beer is rising, with ~40% of 
urban millennials reporting beer as preferred 
AlcoBev for casual and social gatherings. There has 
been a shift in consumer drinking habits, with 
drinking becoming more common at homes. 
Dismantling of social barriers and increased 
participation of women in workforce is also driving 
growth in alcobev industry. The trend is further 
being amplified through rise of social media across 

genders and age groups.

Social Acceptance
Innovation in brewing methods, product variety, 

packaging and consumer experiences is a vital growth 

lever for the Indian beer industry. It complements 

premiumization by enhancing product appeal, meeting 

sophisticated consumer demands and expanding 

market reach beyond traditional strong beer and 

mainstream lagers. This dynamic innovation landscape 

positions India’s beer market for robust growth and 

evolving consumer engagement in the coming years.

Innovation

According to People Research on India's Consumer 

Economy (PRICE), the proportion of the middle class is 

expected to rise to 47% in 2030-31 from 31% in 2020-21. 

With increasing income levels, consumers will spend 

more on aspirational products which will drive sales 

in alcobev industry.

Rising Disposable Income
India has the lowest median age as compared to other 

developed and developing nations (USA: 39yrs, UK: 

41yrs, global median: 32 yrs). ~65% population is under 

35 yrs of age. About 20mn population enter in Legal 

drinking age every year. With increasing population, 

favorable demographic dividend and a growing 

working class, beer market is set to thrive.

Demographic Advantage
In 2022, urban residents, comprising 34.9% of India’s 

population, accounted for 70% of beer consumption, 

with urbanization and city culture driving beer growth. 

Urban consumers spend 20-30% more on alcohol and 

also have high per capita consumption as compared to 

rural counterparts.

Urbanization

According to a report by Anarock and Retailers 
Association of India (RAI), the organized retail sector in 
India is projected to grow at a 25% CAGR, increasing beer 
access in India, especially in Tier 2 and Tier 3 cities. Post 
pandemic, new channels are also getting prominence. 
Home delivery and limited e-commerce for alcobev 
gained traction during pandemic, driven by convenience 
and increased comfort for women consumers. This 
channel can boost market penetration, especially as 

India has a limited number of outlets.

Expansion of Distribution Channel
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Brewing
Philosophy
Brewing

PhilosophyPrecision. Passion. Personality. 

At Medusa, brewing is not merely a process-it is an expression of who we are, blending science, craftsmanship, 

and creativity. Our philosophy is rooted in a respect for time-tested methods, a relentless pursuit of quality and a 

bold spirit of innovation that reflects the evolving tastes of modern India. For us, beer is more than a beverage; it is 

an experience and a cultural symbol. 

We believe that great beer is born at the intersection of craftsmanship and creativity. Every variant we create 

begins with meticulous ingredient selection and a carefully designed brewing process to deliver an experience 

that is distinct, refreshing and memorable. From sourcing imported two-row malted barley and premium hops to 

employing finest yeast strains and precisely controlled fermentation techniques, every stage of our process 

ensures consistency in flavor, aroma and mouthfeel. 

Brewing at Medusa goes beyond ingredients and technique. We infuse every batch with personality and purpose, 

crafting beers that embody not only technical excellence but also the character of our brand. Whether it is the 

strength and reliability of Medusa Premium Strong, the crisp refreshment of Medusa Air or the creativity behind our 

limited-edition collaborations, each brew carries a unique story. These stories showcase our willingness to 

experiment fearlessly while remaining true to uncompromising quality. 

We also recognize that beer is a cultural product-a part of moments, conversations and communities. That is why 

we focus on brewing beers that feel emotionally resonant, not just technically excellent. Medusa thrives in the 

spaces where culture is created-across music, art, design, festivals and digital experiences-ensuring that our 

beers are both consumed and lived. 

At Medusa, brewing is more than production. It is precision in process, passion in execution and personality in 

expression. It is how we connect with our consumers, how we tell our story and how we raise the bar for what beer 

can represent in India.
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Beer Manufacturing
Process 

Beer Manufacturing
Process 

Malting

The process begins with malting, 

where barley is germinated to 

activate enzymes that play a 

vital role in brewing. After 

germination, the barley is dried 

in kilns, halting further growth 

and producing what is known as 

malt, which contains starch 

needed for fermentation.

Mashing

The dried malt is then crushed 

and mixed with water and other 

additives to form a mash. During 

this stage, the malt starch is 

converted into maltose, a 

fermentable sugar. The quantity 

of maltose determines the 

potential alcohol content in the 

beer.

Boiling with Hops

The next step involves extracting 

the wort (the sugary liquid) from 

the mash and boiling it for 60 to 

90 minutes with hops. Hops 

serve multiple purposes: they 

impart the beer’s characteristic 

bitterness and aroma and act as 

a natural preservative by 

preventing microbial spoilage. 

Boiling also sterilizes the wort 

and reduces its volume through 

evaporation.

Fermentation

After boiling, the wort is cooled, 

and yeast is added at an 

optimal temperature to initiate 

fermentation. Yeast metabolizes 

the sugars in the wort to 

produce alcohol and carbon 

dioxide, along with other 

byproducts like esters and acids, 

which contribute to the beer's 

flavor and aroma.

Maturation &
Packaging

The carbon dioxide produced 

is typically captured for later 

use during carbonation. The 

beer is then matured to refine 

its taste and improve overall 

quality. Finally, the matured 

beer is filtered, carbonated, 

and packaged in bottles or 

cans for distribution and 

consumption.

Our products are designed to meet the expectations of the evolving Indian beer consumer. Medusa beers are highly sessionable, refreshing and premium in 

character. Each brew presents itself as a clean, crisp lager with a pale golden appearance, excellent foam stability and lively carbonation. The alcohol levels 

are carefully balanced, providing a smooth body without harshness, while the final gravity ensures a dry, easy-drinking finish. Moderate bitterness lends 

balance without overpowering, appealing to both regular beer drinkers and new consumers entering the premium segment. 

In terms of technical quality, we maintain low dissolved oxygen levels and brilliant clarity, which guarantee stability, shelf-life and a fresh taste in every sip. 

This focus on brewing science, combined with consumer-centric branding, ensures that Medusa remains a name associated with trust, consistency and 

premium quality. 
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Procurement and
Supply Chain

Procurement and
Supply Chain

FY25 marked a defining chapter for Medusa Beverages. The pace of business growth, diversification of our product portfolio and entry into new markets 

required our operations, supply chain and procurement to evolve beyond efficiency and become strategic enablers of growth.

This year, Medusa repositioned its operational backbone to focus on competitiveness, reliability and resilience. The outcome has been a stronger foundation 

that enhances our ability to deliver quality products consistently, manage input costs effectively and support both capacity expansion and the launch of 

premium offerings.

alcobev industry faced a challenging environment in FY25. Key external headwinds included:

Supply disruptions, such as new BIS regulatory requirements impacting aluminum can imports and overall packaging availability. 

Premiumization trends, with consumers increasingly demanding quality-driven products and differentiated formats.

Stricter regulations relating to quality, packaging and sustainability.

Strengthening Procurement & Partnerships

A key achievement during the year was the consolidation of procurement activities across categories. This strategic move 

delivered tangible benefits to the Company:

Cost efficiency
Negotiated scale advantages reduced 

material costs and optimized payment terms.

Operational simplification
A streamlined supplier base allowed sharper 

attention to quality and delivery performance.

Supply reliability
Centralized planning enhanced visibility, mitigating risks of shortages.

By transitioning a large portion of procurement spend into structured contracts, Medusa insulated itself from 

inflationary pressures while providing suppliers the confidence to expand capacity in line with our growth.

Reinforcing Quality and Compliance

As Medusa grows into both mainstream and premium segments, quality remains at the core of our brand. This year, the Company:

This ensured that Medusa delivered consistent quality across markets, enabling the seamless rollout of premium variants without additional risk.

• Rationalized its supplier base, retaining only those aligned with stringent quality and safety norms

• Onboarded new packaging and material partners under advanced compliance frameworks

Expanding Capacity & Infrastructure

To support our strong growth trajectory, Medusa expanded its production base by partnering with an additional brewery in North India, increasing 

overall capacity by 50% to 2 Lakh HLPA. This expansion was critical to:

With a total of five strategically located breweries, Medusa is now positioned to serve demand efficiently while maintaining tight control over product 

quality.

• Support rising volumes in core markets

• Enable innovation rollouts, including premium and limited-edition offerings

• Reduce capacity bottlenecks and enhance operational flexibility

Supporting Premium Brand Launches

FY25 was also marked by the successful launch of our premium product portfolio, including Medusa x House of 

the Dragon collaboration. This achievement required careful alignment across packaging, raw material 

procurement, compliance and supply logistics. Ensuring availability of specialized inputs and seamless 

execution reinforced Medusa’s ability to deliver differentiated consumer experiences at scale.
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Financial PerformanceFinancial Performance

FY 2025 was a landmark year of strategic growth and financial strengthening for Medusa Beverages. The Company achieved a significant 

40% YoY increase in cases sold, reinforcing its position as a fast-growing player in the Indian alcobev space. This performance was driven 

by a dual focus on expanding our flagship portfolio and building exclusive partnerships.

To support this rapid expansion and ensure operational excellence, we strengthened our manufacturing backbone through tie-ups with 

five breweries, coupled with the deployment of dedicated accountants at each location to enhance financial oversight, cost control and 

real-time data visibility. On the capital front, the successful closure of a Series A funding round of INR 56 Crores significantly bolstered our 

balance sheet. The fresh equity infusion enhanced working capital capacity, supported growth initiatives and improved our debt profile, 

enabling us to secure better loan terms and reduce interest costs. 

These measures collectively reflect a year of robust growth and prudent financial management, laying a strong foundation for sustained 

performance and long-term value creation.

Particulars FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24 % Change Remarks

Revenue from
Operations 

Profit / (Loss)
Before Tax 

Profit / (Loss)
After Tax 

Total Assets

Shareholders'
Funds 

Cash & Bank
Balances 

15,609.93

(416.29)

(421.00)

10,753.55

6,169.39

1,901.57

13,222.01

(287.28)

(283.59)

5,175.03

500.34

874.46

18.1%

-

-

107.8%

1,133.2%

117.5%

Driven by 40%

volume growth

Increased investment

in brand building &

expansion

-

Major increase due

to fundraise and

business expansion

Primarily due to

Series A fundraise

of INR 56 Cr

Strong liquidity

position post-equity

infusion

Key Financial Developments:

Strengthened Capital Base

Improved Debt Management

Strategic Investments for Growth

During the year, the Company bolstered its 

equity base by issuing Compulsorily 

Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) and 

Compulsorily Convertible Debentures 

(CCD), which were subsequently converted 

into equity shares. This Series A fundraise of 

INR 56 Crores has provided a solid 

foundation to fuel future growth and 

de-leverage the balance sheet.

Despite an increase in operational scale, the 

Company effectively managed its finance 

costs. Strategic repayment and 

restructuring of borrowings, supported by 

the equity infusion, led to more favorable 

borrowing terms. This is reflected in the 

reduction of the overall interest burden, 

achieved through negotiating lower interest 

rates via a reduced Loan-to-Value (LTV) 

ratio on secured facilities.

The significant increase in Inventory (from 

INR 761.56 L to INR 2,545.89 L) and Trade 

Receivables (from INR 3,180.12 L to INR 

4,776.19 L) is a direct result of the 40% volume 

growth and the preparation for the 

successful launch of new brands like 

'Medusa x House of the Dragon'. These 

investments in working capital were 

strategic and essential for capturing

market share.

Amount in Lakhs (INR)
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Financial PerformanceFinancial Performance

The Company is strategically positioned to lead this transformation. Our focus on building strong brands like 'Medusa Air' and 'Medusa x 

House of the Dragon' lays the foundation for the future. We are actively engaging with industry bodies to advocate for these rational 

policies. Our strategy for FY 2025-26 is built on the conviction that a policy shift is inevitable and when it occurs, Medusa Beverages will 

be the primary beneficiary, poised to capture the wave of new demand for high quality, premium beers in India.

Future Prospects:

The Indian beer market stands at a critical juncture. While industry leaders project a steady 6-7% volume growth, the Company believes 

this is a fraction of its true potential, which is artificially capped by an archaic and counterproductive tax regime.

The explosive growth of 'Medusa Air', a mild beer, demonstrates a clear and substantial consumer appetite for quality, drinkability and 

flavour. However, the industry-wide preference for 'strong beer' is not a cultural choice but a direct economic response to a flawed 

system. Beer must be brought under the GST regime and not taxed like hard liquor, as the current system creates a perverse incentive for 

consumers to seek higher Alcohol By Volume (ABV) to maximise value. As industry veterans rightly argue, until mild beer is taxed 

rationally and priced as a casual beverage rather than a alcobev product, the market will remain severely constrained.

The single most significant reform that would unlock this potential is the inclusion of beer under the GST regime, accompanied by a 

progressive tax structure based on alcohol strength, as seen in mature markets globally. This would:

Promote Responsible Consumption: Make lower-alcohol beverages an affordable choice

Unlock Massive Growth: Attract new consumers and normalize beer consumption

Simplify Compliance: Create a unified national market
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Corporate Governance 
and Legal Compliance
Corporate Governance 
and Legal Compliance

We recognize that good governance is an evolving process and accordingly, we continuously review our policies and practices to 

strengthen stakeholder trust and ensure long-term sustainability. 

We remain committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance, transparency and accountability across all 

its operations. The Board of Directors ensured that decision-making is guided by ethical business practices, regulatory 

compliance, protection of stakeholder interests and all the business objectives are pursued In line with the principles of good 

governance.

We ensured compliance with all the applicable laws, rules and regulations, including but not limited to: 

• Corporate and Statutory Laws: The Companies Act, 2013 and other applicable corporate laws. 

• Excise and Licensing Requirements: State Excise Acts, Rules and Licensing Conditions governing manufacturing, distribution and sale 
of alcoholic beverages. 

• Food Safety and Standards regulations applicable to the production and packaging of alcoholic beverages. 

• Labelling, packaging, advertising and marketing guidelines: Observance of all guidelines on labelling and packaging and 
compliance with restrictions on advertising and promotions. 

• Internal Controls: Medusa has established robust internal controls, compliance monitoring systems and periodic review 
mechanisms to ensure that all statutory obligations are fulfilled in a timely and efficient manner. 

• Regular internal and statutory audits: Medusa ensured regular internal and statutory audits for assurance on financial, operational 
and regulatory matters, periodic board reviews to oversee governance and risk, structured reporting framework to ensure 
transparency and accountability, which reinforces the culture of compliance within the organization. 
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Digital Transformation
and Process Excellence 
Digital Transformation
and Process Excellence 

During the year, we took decisive steps towards strengthening our digital backbone and building a culture of process automation across the organization. In today’s fast-paced environment, where businesses must operate with speed, agility and precision, technology-enabled 
processes form the cornerstone of sustainable growth. Recognizing this, we initiated the phased implementation of three key digital platforms-Microsoft Dynamics ERP, Salesforce to enhance capabilities and Zimyo HRMS-to bring greater efficiency, transparency and structure 
to our operations. 

Each platform has been chosen with a clear purpose, carefully mapped to our organizational priorities. While the implementation journey is still underway, the progress made so far has already begun to shape the way we work, laying the foundation for a more institutionalized, 
data-driven and future-ready enterprise.

Enterprise Resource Planning – Microsoft Dynamics 

A key initiative during FY25 was the rollout of Microsoft Dynamics ERP across procurement, production, operations and 
finance-an important upgradation from the legacy Tally 9 system. Historically, these functions were managed through a 
combination of manual processes and fragmented systems, often leading to duplication of effort, limited visibility and delays 
in decision-making. 

By transitioning to an integrated ERP platform, Medusa is consolidating all critical processes under a single umbrella, creating 
a single source of truth for the business. This represents a structural shift in the way the company operates-moving decisively 
towards a model that is scalable, reliable and future-ready. 

Future Value Creation 

Once fully implemented, the ERP is expected to deliver measurable impact across the organization:

• Faster month-end financial closing, reducing timelines to just 5-6 days. 

• Improvement in procurement efficiency, through tighter alignment with production schedules and real-time inventory tracking. 

• Real-time financial governance, with automated compliance checks and audit trails ensuring 100% traceability across functions. 

• Organization-wide reporting cadence to improve by 2-3x, with integrated dashboards enabling faster, data-driven decision-making. 

Beyond efficiency, Microsoft Dynamics ERP will standardize workflows across departments, minimize duplication 

and allow teams to redirect focus towards strategic, higher-value activities such as supplier optimization, cost 

control and innovation support. 

Sales Automation- Salesforce 

The sales function remains one of the most dynamic parts of our business, requiring agility, continuous monitoring and a strong 
focus on customer engagement. To strengthen this capability, Medusa initiated the implementation of Salesforce in FY25, 
covering 60+ on-ground sales representatives across multiple markets. 

Although still in the early stages of rollout, Salesforce is being designed as a one-stop solution for sales representatives’ 
requirements. The platform will streamline beat planning, attendance tracking, call steps at designated outlets and expense 
management, consolidating critical tasks into a single interface. By embedding these processes into Salesforce, Medusa aims 
to reduce manual intervention, bring transparency and significantly enhance frontline productivity. 

For the organization, the long-term vision for Salesforce is to create a comprehensive, real-time view of performance across 
the sales ecosystem. This will include integration of primary and secondary sales data, inventory visibility, sales representative 
KPIs rolled up to the company level and structured dashboards. With these capabilities, Medusa will be able to sharpen its 
forecasting, allocate resources more efficiently and strengthen reporting cadence across the sales function. 

Once fully implemented, Salesforce will: 

• Enable systematic monitoring of sales representatives against clearly defined targets 

• Standardize lead management and pipeline visibility to improve responsiveness 

• Enhance tracking of field activities, ensuring discipline and accountability 

• Provide sales representatives with end-to-end visibility into targets, progress, and performance metrics 

• Deliver management teams consolidated analytics for better decision-making and market strategy 

For sales representatives, it will simplify daily workflows and strengthen engagement with customers. For the Company, it will 
institutionalize consistent reporting, data-driven planning and executional excellence-critical elements as Medusa expands 
across geographies. 
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Human Resource Management
System – Zimyo HRMS 

Human Resource Management
System – Zimyo HRMS 

Laying the Foundation for the Future

While all these implementations were still in progress by the end of March 2025, the early outcomes have demonstrated the transformative potential of these platforms. Together, they represent a major step forward in building a digitally enabled, 
process-driven organization. By strengthening visibility across operations, sharpening sales management and streamlining human resource practices, these initiatives are laying the groundwork for greater efficiency, governance and scalability. 

Looking ahead, we remain committed to completing the rollouts in a phased manner, ensuring that adoption is smooth, training is robust and benefits are maximized across all functions. As these platforms reach maturity, we expect them to not only 
enhance operational efficiency but also support cultural transformation-enabling our teams to work smarter, more transparently and more collaboratively. 

The journey towards process automation and technology-driven growth has only begun, but it is a decisive step towards building an institution that is agile, future-ready and capable of delivering sustained value in the years to come. 

80% of attendance and leave processes are now automated, reducing manual intervention and administrative workload.  

Payroll processing time reduced by nearly 40%, with greater accuracy and standardization. Zimyo has enabled Medusa to 
bring payroll cycles fully in line with industry standards (monthly closure within 3–4 days). 

100% of employees onboarded on digital HR services, ensuring transparent access to payslips, leave balances and 
attendance data in real time.

Building a strong organizational backbone requires structured, transparent and scalable people processes. In FY25, Medusa took a 
significant step forward by initiating the deployment of Zimyo HRMS across the organization, covering 100+ employees across functions 
and geographies. The objective was to streamline HR management, institutionalize policies and enhance the overall employee 
experience through automation and digital access. 

The platform integrates a wide range of HR functions, including payroll, attendance, leave management, performance tracking and 
employee lifecycle management. Early phases of implementation have already delivered tangible results:

Beyond automation, the system is being configured to support a structured performance management framework. This will enable 
standardized goal-setting, transparent appraisals and merit-driven reviews. For the first time, employees will have clear visibility into 
individual goals linked to organizational objectives, creating a stronger culture of accountability and recognition. 

The implementation of Zimyo HRMS marks an important milestone in institutionalizing HR practices at Medusa. It ensures consistency, 
scalability and employee-centric processes as we grow. Over the next phases, the platform will evolve to include advanced analytics for 
workforce planning, learning and development modules and deeper integration with ERP tools. 

By digitizing core HR functions and embedding structured performance systems, Medusa is laying the foundation for a transparent, 
efficient and future-ready workplace culture-an essential enabler of our long-term growth strategy. 
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PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

HR Philosophy &
Talent Strategy
HR Philosophy &
Talent Strategy

Strategic
Collaborations

Strategic
Collaborations

Medusa Beverages partnered with Warner Bros. Discovery Global Consumer Products to launch a limited-edition House of the Dragon 
beer in India.

The Fire Edition, with 5.5% ABV, is crafted using roasted two-row malt and select german hops to deliver a bold, smoky flavour inspired by 
dragon fire. Delhi is where it began - our launch debut, exclusively in cans.
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Marketing
Channel

Marketing
Channel

Digital Growth

Medusa Beverages continues to lead with a digital-first approach, resulting in a 

remarkable 189% growth on its Instagram channel. By blending bold branding with 

culturally relevant content and interactive storytelling, the brand has built a strong 

and engaged community online. This surge reflects Medusa’s commitment to 

meeting its audience where they are-digitally active, trend-aware and looking for 

not just a drink, but an experience.

Events and footfall coverage

On-ground presence is crucial for alcohol brands and Medusa Beverages has been 

leading in this area. Over the last financial year, the brand participated in 40+ 

events, reaching over 30,000+ attendees. These events covered music, art and 

fashion, allowing Medusa to connect deeply with diverse cultural communities. By 

being part of these key experiences, Medusa has strengthened its relationship with 

consumers and expanded its footprint across lifestyle spaces.
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PR
Coverage

PR
Coverage

Recognizing the importance of strong PR in building brand credibility, we onboarded One Source as our official 
PR agency.

This strategic partnership has played a key role in strengthening Medusa’s positioning and establishing its 
voice in the serious business landscape.
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core marketing
pillars

core marketing
pillars

At Medusa Beverages, our marketing strategy is built on five core pillars - a structured approach that drives 
consistent presence and impact across all brand touchpoints.

From large-scale events to curated experiences, these pillars ensure we create meaningful engagement and 
the right buzz where it matters the most.
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L Human CapitalHuman Capital “At Medusa, our biggest investment is in people.” 

Our employees are the true catalysts of growth and transformation. FY25 was a year of significant progress in human capital, marked by workforce expansion, diversity, policy institutionalization, 

capability-building and enhanced cultural engagement. Collectively, these initiatives are shaping Medusa into a future-ready, performance-driven and inclusive organization. 

Building Workforce Strength: 

The Company’s manpower base expanded to 100+, aligned with business growth and geographic expansion. Key 

department heads were hired from leading industry peers, strengthening leadership in sales, finance, supply chain and 

human resources. Attrition was contained at 7%, well below industry benchmarks.

To embed accountability and clarity, key departments were identified, KPIs were defined and a level-and-slab career 

framework was introduced, giving employees visibility into progression pathways.

The rollout of Zimyo HRMS marked a key milestone in digitizing people processes. Core HR functions including payroll, leave 

and attendance-were automated, bringing payroll cycles in line with industry standards while improving accuracy and 

efficiency.  As adoption expands, HRMS will support performance tracking, structured appraisals and workforce analytics, 

enabling data-driven workforce management and sharper organizational insights. Looking forward, the Company 

remains committed to creating a workplace that is inclusive, performance-driven and future-ready, ensuring that as 

Medusa grows, its people continue to grow with it. 

Institutionalizing Policies and Practices:

FY25 saw the rollout of several policies designed to institutionalize fairness, transparency and accountability:

• Travel Allowance Policy redesigned for greater flexibility for both sales teams and head office. 

• Target-Based Incentive Policy introduced for implementation in FY26, with KPIs defined for every employee. 

• Whistleblower Policy launched to provide a safe and confidential platform for concerns. 

• Workplace Conduct Policy reinforcing ethics and compliance. 

• Leave and Attendance Policy, automated through HRMS. 

• Employee Grievance Redressal Mechanism, ensuring timely resolution and trust. 

Together, these policies institutionalized Medusa’s values and creating a meritocratic, policy-driven culture. 

Leveraging Technology in HR 

Advancing Diversity and Inclusion:

Medusa made strong progress in building a diverse workforce. Female representation increased to 10%, supported by 

targeted hiring across multiple functions. The POSH Committee was restructured to include greater gender diversity and 

female representation, while POSH training sessions were conducted for 100+ employees to reinforce workplace sensitivity 

and compliance. These measures reflect Medusa’s commitment to building a safe, equitable and inclusive workplace. 

Training, Career Development and Internships:

Employee learning and development was a central focus in FY25. Across the organization, employees completed 1,500+ 

hours of structured training, spanning sales effectiveness, functional expertise, leadership development, compliance and 

POSH awareness. 

In addition, Medusa launched internship programs for college graduates as part of its future talent-building efforts. Over 15 

interns were engaged across departments during the year, giving them exposure to real-world business environments while 

creating a pipeline of young talent aligned to Medusa’s culture. 

Career progression frameworks were reinforced with defined KPIs, structured appraisals and transparent growth pathways, 

ensuring alignment between individual aspirations and organizational objectives. 

Medusa continues to nurture a vibrant and collaborative culture. FY25 featured multiple initiatives including Fun Saturdays, 

festival celebrations and birthday events, creating a strong sense of belonging across teams. 

Wellness programs were launched to promote employee well-being, while a structured Employee Recognition Program 

celebrated high performance and creativity. Regular townhalls and workshops enhanced communication and 

cross-functional collaboration. 

Culture and Employee Engagement:
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Notice is hereby given that the 08th (Eighth) Annual General 
Meeting of the members of Medusa Beverages Private Limited will 
be held on Tuesday, 30th day of September, 2025, at 01:00 P.M. at 
shorter notice through Video Conferencing (“VC”) / Other 
Audio–Visual Means (“OAVM”) to transact the following business:

Ordinary Business

1. To receive, consider and adopt audited standalone and 
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the 
Financial Year ended March 31, 2025 comprising of the balance 
sheet as at March 31, 2025, the statement of Profit and Loss, the 
Cash Flow Statement for the year ended March 31, 2025 along 
with the notes forming the part of accounts, Auditor’s Report and 
the Reports of the Board of Directors thereon and to consider and, 
if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with or without 
modification(s) as an Ordinary Resolution:- 

“RESOLVED THAT the audited standalone and consolidated 
financial statements of the Company for the Financial Year ended 
March 31, 2025 comprising of the balance sheet as at March 31, 
2025, the statement of Profit and Loss, the Cash Flow Statement for 
the year ended March 31, 2025 along with the notes forming the 
part of accounts, Auditor’s Report and the Reports of the Board of 
Directors thereon as placed before the meeting be and are hereby 
received, considered and adopted.”

By Order of the Board of Directors

Avneet Singh
Managing Director & CEO
DIN: 06428849

Date: September 27, 2025
Place: New Delhi

Registered Office: 
B-20, Third Floor, Surajmal Vihar, 
East Delhi, Delhi, India, 110092
CIN: U37200DL2017PTC316254
Tel: 011-40544404 

AGM Notice 2025
Notes:

Option 1
For participating through Windows / Apple powered Laptops / Computer devices:

Open the email invitation using Google Chrome browser

Simply click on “Join Microsoft Teams Meeting” option from the email invitation / your 
calendar events.

A new Browser window would open. Select “Join on the web instead”. Once you reach 
to the “Enter Name” prompt, enter your name and click “Join as a Guest” 

You have entered the Board Meeting Video Call Make sure you start your camera and 
keep the microphone “Mute” when not speaking. 

Option 2
For installing Microsoft Teams on your iPad / apple devices / iPad / Android devices:

Click on “Join Microsoft Teams Meeting” from the email invitation/calendar events

System will prompt you to download Microsoft Teams

Download and Install Microsoft teams. Please do not try to login.

Once installed, click on invitation once again on “Join Microsoft Teams Meeting” from 
the email invitation/calendar events

You will be prompted to Microsoft Teams application

Click on “Join as a Guest” option

Type your Name and once again click on “Join as a Guest”

You have entered the Board Meeting Video Call Make sure you start your camera and 
keep the microphone “Mute” when not speaking. 

Alternatively, you may follow procedure given in Option 1 from your iPad / apple 
devices Android devices to participate in the meeting.

1. Members would have received an email from the Company to participate in the Meeting through VC on your email address registered 
with the Company. 

2. Members are requested to note that in accordance with the MCA circulars, the meeting through VC would be conducted through 
“Microsoft Teams” which enables two-way audio and VC. Members are requested to join the Meeting using the following link: 

Click here to join the meeting 

3. The facility of joining the Meeting through VC shall open 15 minutes before the time scheduled for the meeting and shall be kept open 
throughout the proceedings of the meeting.

4. Members who need assistance before or during the meeting can contact Mr. Avneet Singh via email at avneet@medusabeverages.com 
or via phone call +91- 9999113435.

5. In case you already have Microsoft Teams installed on your Laptop / Computer / iPad / Mobile Phone, click on “Join Microsoft Teams 
Meeting” option from the invitation. You will connect to the meeting. 

6. In case you do not have Microsoft Teams installed on your Laptop / Computer / iPad / Mobile Phone, please follow the below given 
procedure to participate. 

1. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) has vide its circular dated September 22, 2025 read together with circulars dated May 05 2020, May 5, 2022, December 28, 2022, September 25, 2023 and September 19, 
2024 (collectively referred to as “MCA Circulars”) permitted convening the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”/ “Meeting”) through Video Conferencing (“VC”) or Other Audio-Visual Means (“OAVM”), without the 
physical presence of the Members at a common venue. In accordance with MCA Circulars and provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”), the AGM of the Company is being held through VC/OAVM. The 
deemed venue for the AGM shall be the Corporate Office of the Company Situated at A-23 2nd Floor JDKD Corporate Park, Mathura Road Mohan Cooperative Industrial Estate, New Delhi-110044, India.

2. In compliance with the MCA Circulars, Notice of the AGM along with the Annual Report 2024-25 is being sent only through electronic mode to those Members whose email addresses are registered with the 
Company. 

3. In view of certain unavoidable circumstances, this Annual General Meeting of the Company is being convened at a shorter notice on September 30, 2025. Section 101(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 permits Annual 
General Meeting of a company being called at a shorter notice if the consent thereto is accorded by not less than ninety-five percent of the members of the company entitled to vote at the meeting. Members are 
requested to give their consent for holding this Annual General Meeting at a shorter notice. The said consent form may be sent to the Company vide an email at avneet@medusabeverages.com.

Members are also requested to give their consent for circulation of the financial statements together with the Directors’ Report and the Auditors’ Report of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2025, 
less than twenty-one days before the date of the Annual General Meeting, by providing a consent in writing. The said consent form may be sent to the Company vide an email at avneet@medusabeverages.com.

4. Generally, a member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on a poll instead of himself and the proxy need not be a member of the Company. Since this AGM 
is being held through VC / OAVM pursuant to the MCA Circulars, physical attendance of Members has been dispensed with. Accordingly, the facility for appointment of proxies by the Members will not be available 
for the AGM and hence the Proxy Form and Attendance Slip are not annexed hereto. 

5. Since the AGM will be held through VC / OAVM, the route map of the venue of the Meeting is not annexed hereto.

6. Corporate members intending to authorise their representative(s) to attend the Meeting are requested to send to the Company vide an email at avneet@medusabeverages.com, a certified true copy of the 
relevant Board Resolution authorising their representative(s) to attend and vote on their behalf at the meeting, before the commencement of the Meeting.

7. In case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such joint holder who is higher in the order of names will be entitled to vote at the AGM. 

8. The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholding maintained under Section 170 of the Act and the Register of Contracts or Arrangements in which the directors are interested, 
maintained under Section 189 of the Act and the relevant documents referred to in the Notice will be available electronically for inspection by the members during the AGM. All documents referred to in the Notice 
will also be available for electronic inspection without any fee by the members from the date of circulation of this Notice up to the date of AGM. Members seeking to inspect such documents can send an email to 
avneet@medusabeverages.com. 

9. Members seeking any information with regard to the accounts or any matter to be placed at the AGM are requested to write to the Company on or before AGM on September 30, 2025, through e-mail on 
avneet@medusabeverages.com.The same will be replied by the Company suitably.

10. Members attending the AGM through VC / OAVM shall be counted for the purpose of reckoning the quorum under Section 103 of the Act.

11. Members can cast their vote by a show of hands during the AGM or by sending an e-mail on avneet@medusabeverages.com in case of a poll. 

12. The instruction for participating in the meeting through VC:

H
ow

 to
 jo

in
?
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Dear Members, 
The Board of Directors present the Eighth Annual Report and the Company’s audited financial statement for the year ended March 31, 2025.

1. Company Overview

The year under review has been the Eighth Financial year for the operations of the affairs of the Company. 

Founded in 2017 and headquartered in New Delhi, Medusa Beverages Pvt. Ltd. has rapidly emerged as a high-growth player in India’s AlcoBev industry. The company is primarily engaged in the manufacturing, wholesale, and distribution of beer under its flagship Medusa brand, which 
today enjoys a strong presence across eight states and union territories — Delhi, Uttar Pradesh, Punjab, Haryana, Uttarakhand, Chandigarh, Himachal Pradesh, and Chhattisgarh.

Beyond its own portfolio, Medusa also provides distribution, carrying, and forwarding services to other brands, reinforcing its vision of becoming a full-scale AlcoBev platform. Anchored on its core values of bold innovation, relentless quality, and market leadership, Medusa has steadily 
expanded its offerings with premium variants such as Medusa Air and co-branded launches like Medusa x House of the Dragons. With disciplined execution, regional partnerships, and a consumer-first approach, the company is well-positioned to scale nationally and establish itself as 
a trusted and future-ready AlcoBev powerhouse.

Board’s Report 2025

3. Investment/Acquisitions

During the year under review, your Company has not made any 
investments/acquisitions.

4. Change in the Nature of Business, If Any

There was no change in the nature of the Company’s Business during the period 
under review.

5. Corporate Governance

Our Corporate governance practices reflect our value system encompassing our 
culture, policies and relationship with our stakeholders. Integrity and transparency 
are key to our corporate governance practice to ensure that we gain and retain the 
trust of our stakeholders at all times. Corporate governance is about maximizing 
shareholder value legally, ethically and sustainability. The company is adhering the 
highest standard of corporate governance.

6. Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower

The provision of sub-section (9) of section 177 read with Rule 7 of the Companies 
(Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 is not applicable on the Company.

7. Deposits

The Company has not accepted any deposits and, as such, no amount of principal or 
interest was outstanding as on the balance sheet closure date.

Standalone Financial Statements                                                      (Rs. In Lakhs) 
Particulars For the year ended 

March 31, 2025 
For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

Revenue from operations 15609.93 13,222.01  
Other Income 64.70 26.32 
Profit (+)/ Loss (-) before Finance cost, 
Depreciation and Tax 

(198.85) (167.12 ) 

Finance Cost/Bank Charges 199.50 113.56  
Depreciation and Amortization   17. 94 6.60 
Profit (+)/ Loss (-) before Tax (416.29) 
Current Tax  - - 
Previous Year Tax 0.46 - 
Deferred Tax 4.25 (3.69) 
Profit (+)/ Loss (-) after Tax  

 
Consolidated Financial Statements                                                        (Rs. In Lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

Revenue from operations 15609.93 13,222.01  
Other Income 64.70 26.32 
Profit (+)/ Loss(-) before Finance cost, 
Depreciation and Tax 

(199.34) (167.95) 

Finance Cost/Bank Charges 199.50 113.56  
Depreciation and Amortization  17.94  6.60 
Profit (+)/ Loss (-) before Tax (416.78) (288.11) 
Current  Tax - - 
Previous Year Tax 0.46 - 
Deferred Tax 4.25 (3.69) 
Profit (+)/ Loss (-) after Tax (421.49) (284.42) 

2.  Financial Results

The Company’s financial performance for the financial period from 01st April, 2024 to 
31st March, 2025 is summarized below

Result of Operations  

Standalone (Figures in INR Lakhs)
The total revenue of the Company for the Financial Year 2024-25 stood at INR 
15,674.63/- Lakhs as against the revenue of INR 13,248.33/- Lakhs for the Financial 
Year 2023-24 showing an increase of 18.31% approx.

Consolidated (Figures in INR Lakhs)
The consolidated total revenue of the Company for the Financial Year 2024-25 stood 
at INR 15,674.63/- Lakhs as against the revenue of INR 13,248.33/- Lakhs for the 
Financial Year 2023-24 showing an increase of 18.31% approx.

8. Transfer to Reserves

The Board of Directors of the Company has not transferred any amount to the Reserves for 
the financial period under review. 

9. Dividend

The Board of Directors of the Company has not recommended any dividend on equity 
shares of the Company for the financial period under review.

10. Details of Material changes affecting the Company

There have been no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of 
the Company between the end of the financial period and date of this Report. 

12. Secretarial Standards

The Company has followed applicable Secretarial Standards, i.e. SS-1 and SS-2 relating to 
‘Meetings of the Board of Directors’ and ‘General Meetings’, respectively.

11. Holding Company, Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associate Companies

The Company has one Wholly-Owned Subsidiary Medusa Spirits Private Limited. Details of 
the same are mentioned in AOC-1, annexed to this Board Report.

During the financial year under review, no company has become or ceased to be the 
Company’s subsidiary, joint venture or associate company. There has been no material 
change in the nature of the business of the subsidiaries. 

(283.59)

(287.28) 

(421.00) 
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14. Contracts or arrangements with Related Parties

All the transactions/contracts/arrangements of the nature as specified in Section 188(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 entered by the Company during the year under review with related party(ies) are in the ordinary course of business and on arms’ length basis. Hence, Section 188(1) is 
not applicable and consequently no particulars in form AOC-2 are furnished.

However, the disclosure of transactions with related parties for the financial year, as per Accounting Standard -18 Related Party Disclosures is given in Note No. 39 to the Balance Sheet as on March 31, 2025.

16. Internal Financial Control

The Company has in place adequate controls, procedures and processes in place for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business including adherence to the Company’s policies, safeguarding of its assets, prevention and detection of fraud, error reporting mechanism, 
accuracy and completeness with respect to its accounting records, financial statements which provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements. These controls and processes are driven through various policies, 
procedures and certifications.

During the year, such controls were assessed and no reportable material weakness in the design or operations were observed. Accordingly, the Company’s internal financial controls were adequate and efficient during financial year 2024-25.

15. Risk Management 

Risk management is embedded in the Company’s operating framework. The management of the Company keeps evaluating the risks to which the Company is exposed to on a continuous basis, to ensure consistent, efficient and effective assessment of risks and its timely mitigation. 
The management provides an update to the Board on the risks which are critical for the operation of the Company, if any. The Company has duly approved Risk Management Policy. The objective of this Policy is to have a well-defined approach to risk. The policy lays down broad 
guidelines for timely identification, assessment, and prioritization of risks affecting the Company in the short and foreseeable future. The policy suggests framing an appropriate response action for the key risks identified, so as to make sure that risks are adequately addressed or 
mitigated.

The Board of Directors of the Company is ultimately responsible for the risk management process and focus on the most significant risks that may affect the Company viz. Strategic, Operational, Reputational, Financial, and Legal & Compliance. At present, in the opinion of the Board of 
Directors, there are no risks which may threaten the existence of the Company.

Board’s Report 2025
13. Directors’ Responsibility Statement

Pursuant to Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Directors to the best of their knowledge and belief confirm that:

a. In the preparation of the annual accounts for the year ended March 31, 2025, the applicable accounting standards read with requirements sets out in Schedule III to the Act, have been followed and there are no material departures from the same;

b. The Directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the profit of the 

Company for the year ended on that date;

c. The Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

d. The Directors have prepared the annual accounts on a ‘going concern basis’;

e. The directors have laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the Company and that such internal financial controls are adequate and are operating effectively;

f.  The directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that such systems are adequate and are operating effectively.

17. Share Capital 

Authorised Share Capital: 
The Authorised share capital of the company has not changed during the financial year ended March 31, 2025 and it is Rs. 7,50,00,000/- (Rupees Seven Crore and Fifty Lakh Only) divided into 65,00,000 (Sixty-Five Lakhs) equity shares of face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each 
aggregating to Rs. 6,50,00,000 (Rupees Six Crore Fifty Lakhs only) and 10,00,000 (Ten Lakhs) Preference share of face value of Rs.10/- (Rupees Ten only) each aggregating to Rs. 1,00,00,000 (Rupees One Crore Only). 

Paid-up Share Capital: 
The Paid-up share capital of the Company as at Financial Year ended March 31, 2025 is Rs. 6,46,13,230/- (Rupees Six Crores Forty-Six Lakhs Thirteen Thousand Two Hundred and Thirty Only). During the period under review, the Company has undertaken following transactions:
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TRANSFEROR TRANSFEREE No of Equity 
Shares 
Transferred 

 
Distinctive Numbers 

Folio 
No. 

Name of Transferor Folio 
No. 

Name of Transferee 

009 Sudhir Khanna 036 Amarjeet Kaur 3,600 6062008- 6065608 

009 Sudhir Khanna 037 Satinder Kaur 3,600 6065609- 6069208 

i. On April 10, 2024, the Company issued and allotted 1,18,800 (One Lakh Eighteen Thousand and Eight Hundred) Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (“CCPS”) of face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each, aggregating to Rs. 11,88,000/- (Rupees Eleven Lakhs Eighty-Eight Thousand 
Only). The allotment was made at a premium of Rs. 267.78/- (Rupees Two Hundred and Sixty-Seven point Seven Eight Paisa Only) per share, resulting in a total capital inflow of Rs. 3,30,00,264/-. (Rupees Three Crores Thirty Lakhs Two Hundred and Sixty-Four Only). 

ii. Further, on May 09, 2024, the Company issued and allotted 54,000 (Fifty-Four Thousand) Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (“CCPS”) of face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each, aggregating to Rs. 5,40,000/- (Rupees Five Lakhs Forty Thousand Only). The allotment was made 
at a premium of Rs. 267.78/- (Rupees Two Hundred and Sixty-Seven point Seven Eight Paisa Only) per share, resulting in a total capital inflow of Rs. 1,50,00,120/-. (Rupees One Crore Fifty Lakhs One Hundred and Twenty Only).

iii. Further, on October 01, 2024, the Company issued and allotted 37,50,000 (Thirty-Seven Lakhs Fifty Thousand Only) Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (“CCD”) of face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each, aggregating to Rs. 3,75,00,000/-. (Rupees Three Crores Seventy-Five Lakhs 
Only).

iv. Further, on January 18, 2025, the Company issued and allotted 12,02,008 (Twelve Lakhs Two Thousand and Eight Only) Equity Shares of face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each, aggregating to Rs. 1,20,20,080/- (Rupees One Crore Twenty Lakhs Twenty Thousand and Eighty Only). The 
allotment was made at a premium of Rs. 425.52/- (Rupees Four Hundred and Twenty-Five point Five Two Paisa Only) per share, resulting in a total capital inflow of Rs. 52,35,04,408/-. (Rupees Fifty-Two Crores Thirty-Five Lakhs Four Thousand Four Hundred and Eight Only).

v. Thereafter, pursuant to the consent of the shareholders and subject to the provisions of Addendum cum Consent Letter dated January 17, 2025, the Company has converted 3,06,180 (Three Lakh Six Thousand One Hundred and Eighty) Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (“CCPS”), 
having a face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each into Equity Shares by issuance and allotment of Equity Shares on January 19, 2025 having a face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each, in the ratio of 1:1, i.e., 1 (One) Equity Share for every 1 (One) Compulsorily Convertible Preference 
Share (“CCPS”) held.

vi. Thereafter, pursuant to the request of Compulsory Convertible Debenture (CCD’s) holders and subject to the provisions of Addendum cum Consent Letter dated January 10, 2025, the Company has converted 37,50,000 (Thirty-Seven Lakh Fifty Thousand), 0.001% Compulsory Convertible 
Debentures (CCD’s) each having face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each into Equity Shares of the Company by issuance and allotment of 93,135 (Ninety-Five Thousand One Hundred and Thirty-Five) Equity Shares having face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only), at an issue price of Rs. 
402.64/- (Rupees Four Hundred and Two and Sixty-Four Paisa Only) per Equity Share (Each having a face value of Rs. 10/- and securities premium of Rs. 392.64/-). 

vii. Thereafter, the Company has received a letter dated January 27, 2025 from Mr. Sudhir Khanna, shareholder of the Company, requesting for the transfer of his shareholding, as mentioned in below table, to Mrs. Amarjeet Kaur and Mrs. Satinder Kaur.

The copy of such letters from Mr. Sudhir Khanna and letter of acceptance from Mrs. Amarjeet Kaur and Mrs. Satinder Kaur together with duly executed share purchase agreement and the relevant share certificates was taken on record and approved by the Board in their board meeting 
dated February 12, 2025. 

The funds raised through the above-mentioned issuance(s) are being utilized exclusively for the Company’s operations.

This space intentionally left blank
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S. 
No
. 

Name of Director 
Directors/KMP’s 

DIN/PAN Designation Date of 
Appointment 

1.  Mr. Avneet Singh 06428849 Managing Director 04/03/2025 
2.  Mr. Avneet Singh DUGPS6899C CEO 04/03/2025 
3.  Mr. Amardeep Singh 07240520 Director 18/10/2022 
4.  Mr. Balinder Singh 06428850 Director 17/07/2024 

18. Directors 

During the financial year under review, the Board has appointed Mr. Balinder Singh (DIN: 06428850), as Additional Director of the Company with effect from July 17, 2024. 

The members of the Company at their Annual General Meeting held on September 30, 2024 had approved the appointment of Mr. Balinder Singh (DIN: 06428850), as Director of the Company.

Further, in line with the ‘Appointment of Managing Director Agreement’ executed on March 04, 2025 by and between the Company, Mr. Avneet Singh, Promoters, and Major Investors, there was a requirement to change the designation of Mr. Avneet Singh (DIN: 06428849) from Director to 
Managing Director of the Company. Therefore, the designation of Mr. Avneet Singh was changed and appointed as a “Managing Director” of the Company with effect from March 04, 2025 for a period of 5 (Five) years. 

Further, in line with the provisions of the Shareholders’ Agreement (SHA) dated January 13, 2025 and further reinforced by the Managing Director Agreement executed on March 04, 2025, Mr. Avneet Singh (PAN: DUGPS6899C) was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company 
with effect from March 04, 2025, to perform such duties and responsibilities as may be assigned to him by the Board of Directors from time to time and to lead the strategic and operational functions of the Company.

Accordingly, as on March 31, 2025, following persons continue to be the directors/KMP’s in the Company:

19. Declaration of Independent Directors

Appointment of independent directors as required by section 149(4) of the Companies Act, 2013 is applicable to listed companies and prescribed classes of public companies.

Since the Company does not satisfy any of the criteria as mentioned above, the company is not required to appoint an Independent Director.

20. Corporate Social Responsibility 

Since your company does not satisfy any of the criteria as mentioned under section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility) Rules, 2014, the company is not required to constitute CSR committee or comply the with provisions of the said sections 
and rules.

21. Statutory Auditors  

Mr. Pankaj Kumar Singh, Partner of M/s. PRAKASH K PRAKASH, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 000415N) was appointed as the Statutory Auditors of the Company, to hold the office from the conclusion of Fifth Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of Tenth Annual General 
Meeting to be held in the year 2027 on such remuneration as may be mutually decided between the Board of Directors and Auditors. Further, the Company has received a confirmation from the said Auditors that they are not disqualified to act as the Auditors and are eligible to audit the books 
of accounts of the Company for the Financial Year ended March 31, 2025.

Further, the observations of Auditors in their report, read in the relevant notes to the accounts in Notes are self-explanatory and therefore, in the opinion of the Directors, do not require further explanation/comments under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013. However, the Auditors have 
noted that the Company had not enabled the audit trail (edit log) facility throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the accounting software.

In this regard, The Board would like to clarify that this was due to the Company’s existing accounting software not having the required feature activated during the reporting year. However, no financial irregularity or deficiency in internal financial controls has been reported by the Auditors in 
this regard.

To ensure full compliance going forward, the Company has taken corrective steps and implemented the ERP system (i.e., Microsoft Dynamics 365) with audit trail functionality, effective from FY 2025-26. The Board further confirms that adequate processes have been put in place to ensure 
the audit trail remains active and tamper-proof for all transactions as mandated by law.
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22. Disclosures:

(I) Meetings of the Board 

During the period under review, the Board of Directors met Twenty-Seven (27) times and the gap 
between two consecutive meetings did not exceed 120 days. The number of meetings attended 
by each Director during the financial year under review is tabled below:

Sr. No. Date of Meeting Total No. of Directors 
associated as on the 
date of Meeting 

Attendance 
No. of Directors 
Attended  

% of Attendance 

1. April 02, 2024 2 2 100 
2. April 09, 2024 2 2 100 
3. April 10, 2024 2 2 100 
4. April 13, 2024 2 2 100 
5. May 08, 2024 2 2 100 
6. May 09, 2024 2 2 100 
7. May 10, 2024 2 2 100 
8. June 08, 2024 2 2 100 
9. June 14, 2024 2 2 100 
10. June 20, 2024 2 2 100 
11. June 29, 2024 2 2 100 
12. July 17, 2024 2 2 100 
13. August 24, 2024 3 3 100 
14. September 02, 2024 3 3 100 
15. September 18, 2024 3 3 100 
16. October 01, 2024 3 3 100 
17. November 06, 2024 3 3 100 
18. January 02, 2025 3 3 100 
19. January 06, 2025 3 3 100 
20. January 10, 2025 3 3 100 
21. January 13, 2025 3 3 100 
22. January 18, 2025 3 3 100 
23. January 19, 2025 3 3 100 
24. January 20, 2025 3 3 100 
25. February 10, 2025 3 3 100 
26. February 12, 2025 3 3 100 
27. March 27, 2025 3 3 100 

(II) General Meetings 

During the period under review, four (4) General Meetings were held and the details of the 
meetings held is tabled below:

Sr. No. Type of Meeting Date of Meeting 

1. Extra-Ordinary General Meeting April 25, 2024 
2. Extra-Ordinary General Meeting September 16, 2024 
3. Annual General Meeting September 30, 2024 
4. Extra-Ordinary General Meeting January 13, 2025 

(III) Particulars of Loans given, Investments made, Guarantees given, and Securities provided. 

There was no loan given or guarantees given or securities provided or investment made by the 
Company in terms of Section 186 of the Act during the financial period under review.

(IV) Conservation of Energy and Technology Absorption

The Company does not carry on any manufacturing activity directly and accordingly the provisions to furnish information, as per Section 134 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 8 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, relating to Conservation of Energy are not required to be complied with. The 
details of technology of absorption and foreign earnings and out go are as follows:
a) Technology Absorption

(i) the efforts made towards technology absorption NA 
(ii) the benefits derived like product improvement, 

cost reduction, product development or import 
substitution 

NA 

(iii) in case of imported technology (imported during 
the last three years reckoned from the beginning 
of the financial year)- 

The Company did 
not import any technology. 

 
 

(a) the details of technology imported NA 

(b) the year of import NA 

(c) whether the technology been fully absorbed NA 

(d) if not fully absorbed, areas where absorption 
has not taken place, and the reasons thereof 

NA 

(iv) the expenditure incurred on Research and 
Development 

NA 

(V) Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo:
    (Rs. In Lakhs) 

PARTICULARS For the financial year ended 
on 31.03.2025 

For the financial year ended 
on 31.03.2024 

Earning in Foreign Exchange NIL NIL 
Expenditure in Foreign Exchange 8.60 NIL 

(VI) Number of employees as on the closure of the financial year

The Company is committed to maintaining a diverse and inclusive workplace. During the year, efforts were made to enhance gender balance across 
departments, especially in areas where female participation has traditionally been lower. Initiatives around women’s leadership development, safety, flexible 
working arrangements, and return-to-work programs post-maternity were further strengthened.

As on the closure of the financial year ended March 31, 2025, the total number of employees on the rolls of the Company stood at 103. The gender-wise breakup 
of employees is as follows:

Category Number of Employees Percentage (%) 

Female 7 6.8 
Male 96 93.20 

(VII)  Annual Return

Pursuant to notification issued by Ministry of Corporate Affairs dated March 05, 2021, Rule 12 of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 
was amended, accordingly, the Company is not required to annex the extract of the Annual Return with the Director’s Report. The Company will place its copy 
of Annual Return on its website, below is the link for the same www.medusabeverages.com

(VIII) Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders Relationship Committee

In accordance with provisions of Section 177 & 178 of the Companies Act 2013 read with Companies (Meetings of Board and its powers) Rule, 2014, the company 
is not required to constitute Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders Relationship Committee.
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(X) Details of difference between amount of the valuation done at the time of one-time settlement and the valuation done while taking loan from the banks or financial institutions

The same is not applicable on the Company.

(IX) Transfer of amounts to Investor Education and Protection Fund
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 124 of the Act read with the Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016 (“IEPF Rules”) read with the relevant circulars and amendments thereto, the amount of dividend remaining unpaid 
or unclaimed for a period of seven (7) years from the due date were duly transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund (“IEPF”), constituted by the Central Government.  During the FY 2024-25 the Company did not have any funds lying unpaid or unclaimed for a period 
of seven years. Therefore, there were no funds which were required to be transferred to Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF).

23. Prevention of Sexual Harassment 

The Company is committed to provide a protective environment at workplace to all its women employees, to ensure that every woman employee is treated with dignity and respect. The Company has implemented practices and support systems that specifically address the 
requirements of its female employees. This is backed by stringent policies and procedures, which ensures the workplace environment free from sexual harassment. The company has complied with provisions relating to the constitution of Internal Complaints Committee under the 
Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013. During the year, there was no complaint regarding sexual harassment.

24. Compliance with respect to the Provisions of Maternity Benefit Act, 1961

During the period under review, the Company has complied with the provisions relating to the Maternity Benefit Act, 1961.

25. General

Your directors’ states that no disclosure or reporting is required in respect of the following matters as there were no transactions on these matters during the year under review:

1. Issue of equity shares with differential rights as to dividend, voting or otherwise.
2. Issue of shares (including sweat equity shares) to employees of the Company under any scheme.
3. The Company does not have any scheme of provision of money for the purchase of its own shares by employees or by trustees for the benefit of employees.
4. No significant or material orders were passed by the Regulators or Courts or Tribunals which impact the going concern status and Company’s operations in future.
5. No fraud was reported by the Auditors to the Board.
6. Details in terms of Section 197(12) of the Act.
7. The Company is not required to maintain cost records in terms of section 148(1) of the Act.
8. There is no proceeding pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016.  

The Board of Directors further state that no cases of child labour, forced labour, involuntary labour or discriminatory employment were reported during the year under review.

Acknowledgement:

The Board expresses its sincere gratitude to the shareholders, bankers and clients for their continued support.
The Board also wholeheartedly acknowledges with thanks the dedicated efforts of all the staff and employees of the Company.

No. of complaints received Nil 
No. of complaints disposed off Nil 
No. of complaints pending beyond 90 days    Nil 

Date:   September 27, 2025  

Place:  New Delhi

Avneet Singh

Managing Director

DIN: 06428849

Amardeep Singh

Director

DIN: 07240520

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on 
the last date of the relevant financial year in the 
case of foreign subsidiaries.  

- 

Share capital  20.00 
Reserves & surplus  (6.97) 
Total assets  15.81  
Total Liabilities  15.81  
Investments  NIL  
Turnover  NIL  
Loss before taxation  (0.49) 
Provision for taxation  NIL  
Loss after taxation  (0.49) 
Proposed Dividend   NIL  
% of shareholding  100% 

 
For Medusa Beverages Private Limited 

 

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs) 
Name of the subsidiary MEDUSA SPIRITS PRIVATE LIMITED  

 

- 

Date:   September 27, 2025  

Place:  New Delhi

Avneet Singh

Managing Director

DIN: 06428849

Amardeep Singh

Director

DIN: 07240520

FORM AOC-1

[Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014]

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of
Subsidiaries or Associate Companies or Joint Ventures

Part A: - Subsidiaries

Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, 
if different from the holding company's reporting 
period

1.  Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations: - NA

2.  Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year: - NA

Part B: - Associates: NIL 
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To the Members of Medusa Beverages Private limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the Standalone Financial Statements of Medusa Beverages Private Limited 
(“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2025, and the 
statement of Profit and Loss and statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes 
to the Standalone Financial Statements, including a summary of the significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. (hereinafter, referred to as “the Standalone 
Financial Statements”)

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 
us, the aforesaid Standalone Financial Statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs 
of the Company as at March 31, 2025 and its Loss and its cash flows for the year ended on 
that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements under the provisions of 
the Act, and the Rules there under, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Company’s management and Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the Other Information. The Other Information comprises the information included in the 
Company’s annual report, but does not include the Standalone Financial Statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the Standalone Financial Statements does not cover the Other Information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Standalone Financial Statements, our responsibility is to 
read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is 
materially inconsistent with the Standalone Financial Statements or our knowledge 
obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

Management’s Responsibility and those charged with Governance for the Standalone Financial Statements 
  
The Company’s management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these Standalone Financial 
Statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, profit/loss and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, 
including the Accounting Standards specified under section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; 
making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively 
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statement that give a true and fair view and are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Management is also responsible for maintaining and retaining the audit trail (edit log) records in compliance to the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014.

In preparing the Standalone Financial Statements, management and Board of Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.  The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements  
  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Standalone Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Standalone Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, awe exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also :

a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Standalone Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we 
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to Standalone Financial Statements in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls. 

c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management

d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Standalone Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern

e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Standalone Financial Statements, including the disclosures, and whether the Standalone Financial Statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Standalone Financial Statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the Standalone Financial Statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the Standalone Financial Statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Other Matter

We have incorporated the Standalone Financial Statements of M/s Manav Breweries Pvt Ltd (controlled manufacturing unit) in the standalone Financial 
Statements of the Company whose Standalone Financial Statements reflect total assets of Rs. 581.68 Lacs as at 31st March 2025 and the total revenue of 
Rs. 2674.06 Lacs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the standalone Financial Statements of these unit have not been audited by us. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

(1) As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the Annexure 1 a statement on the matters specified in the paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the 
extent applicable. 

(2) As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books except for the matters stated in the paragraph i (v) below, on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014.

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid Standalone Financial Statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014.

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2025 taken on record by   the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

(f) With Respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to the Standalone Financial Statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in Annexure 2.

(g) Provisions of section 197(16) of the Act as amended related to remuneration paid by the Company to its directors is not applicable to the Company. 

(h) The modifications relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith are as stated in the paragraph b above on reporting under section 143(3)(b) of the Act and paragraph i (v) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and 
Auditors) Rules, 2014.

(i) with respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31st March 2025 on its financial position in its financial statement – Refer note 28 (contingent liabilities and commitments) to the financial statement.

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material foreseeable losses.

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Company.

iv. (a) The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person or 
entity, including foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(b) The management has represented, that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, no funds have been received by the Company, from any person or entity, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that 
the Company, shall, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(C) Based on the audit procedures performed that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), as provided under (a) 
and (b) above, contain any material misstatement
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v. Based on our examination which included test checks, the Company has used accounting software for maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility, however the same has not enabled throughout the year for all relevant 
transactions recorded in the respective software. Further, during our audit, we did not come across any instance of audit trail feature being tampered and the audit trail has been preserved by the Company as per the statutory requirements for record retention. Our examination of the 
audit trail was in the context of an audit of financial statements carried out in accordance with the Standard of Auditing and only to the extent required by Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules,2014. We have not carried out any audit or examination of the audit trail 
beyond the matters required by the aforesaid Rule 11(g) nor have we carried out any standalone audit or examination of the audit trail

vi. The company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

For  PRAKASH K PRAKASH
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 000415

Pankaj Kumar Singh
Partner
Membership Number: 531495

Place: Delhi
Date:  27th September, 2025
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(Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ of our report of even date to the members of Medusa Beverages Private Limited on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2025.), we report that:

(b) The Company has a regular program of physical verification of its Property, Plant and Equipment in a phased manner over a period of 
three years which, in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and nature of its assets.
      
Pursuant to the program, fixed assets were physically verified during the financial year. According to the information and explanations 
given to us, no material discrepancies were noticed in such verification. 
 
(c) The Company does not have any immovable property and accordingly, the requirements under paragraph 3(i)(c) of the Order are 
not applicable to the Company.

(d) The Company has not revalued its Property, Plants and Equipment (including right of Use Assets) or intangible assets or both during 
the year.

(e) There are no proceedings initiated or pending against the Company for holding any Benami Property under The Prohibition of Benami 
Property Transactions Act 1988 and rules made thereunder.
 
2. (a) The management of the Company has conducted physical verification of inventory at reasonable intervals during the year, in our 
opinion, the coverage and procedure of such verification by the management is appropriate. As informed to us, any discrepancies of 10% 
or more in the aggregate for each class of inventory were not noticed on such verification.

(b) The Company has been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of Rs. 5 crores in aggregate from Banks on the basis of security of 
current assets. Based on the records examined by us in the normal course of audit of the standalone financial statements, quarterly 
returns / statements filed with such Banks are in agreement with the books of accounts of the Company.

3. (a) During the year the company has not made investments in, provided any guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances 
in the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties, accordingly no 
reporting under this clause required.

 (b) to (f) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the audit procedures performed, we report that since 
the Company has not made any investments, provided any guarantees, granted any security, or given any loans/advances (secured or 
unsecured) to companies, firms, LLPs, partnerships, or any other parties during the year, reporting under Clause (b) to Clause (f) is not 
applicable

To the best of our information and according to the explanations provided to us by the Company and the books of account and records 
examined by us in the normal course of audit, we state that:

1. (a) (A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and situation of its   
                               Property, Plant and Equipment. 

  (B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

4. According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not granted any loans or provided any guarantees or 
securities to parties covered under Section 185 of the Companies Act, 2013. Further, no transactions have been undertaken during the 
year which fall within the scope of Section 186 of the Act in respect of loans, investments, guarantees or securities. Accordingly, 
reporting under this clause is not applicable.

5. The Company has not accepted any deposits or amount which are deemed to be deposit from the public in accordance sections 
73 to 76 of the Act and the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 (as amended). Therefore, requirements under paragraph 
3(v) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

6. The maintenance of cost records has not been specified for the activities of the Company by the Central Government under Section 
148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 for the business activities carried out by the Company. Hence reporting under Clause 3(vi) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

7. (a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined by us, in our opinion, 
undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Services tax, provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, 
service tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, cess, and other statutory dues have generally been regularly deposited with the 
appropriate authorities during the year.
  
(b) According to the information and explanation given to us and the records of the Company examined by us, there are no dues 
relating to goods and services tax, provident fund, employees' state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of customs, 
duty of excise, value added tax, cess, and other statutory dues which have not been deposited on account of any dispute.

8. There were no transactions relating to previously unrecorded income that were surrendered or disclosed as income in the tax 
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961) during the year.

9. (a) In our opinion the Company has not defaulted in the repayment of any loan or other borrowings or in the payment of interest 
thereon to any lender during the year.
 
(b) The Company has not been declared willful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any government 
authority. 

(c) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records of the Company, the term 
loans obtained during the year have been applied for the purposes for which they were obtained.
 
(d) The company has utilized the loan amount for the short term purpose for which it has been raised. 

(e) The Company has not taken any funds from any entity or any person on account of or to meet the obligation of its subsidiaries, 
associates or joint ventures. Hence, reporting under this clause is not applicable.
 
(f) The Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of the securities held in its subsidiaries, joint ventures or associate 
companies. Hence, reporting under this clause is not applicable.

ANNEXURE TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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17. Based on the overall review of financial statements, the Company has incurred cash losses in the current financial year amounting to Rs. 398.77 Lacs & Rs. 280.68 Lacs immediately preceding financial year (FY 2023-24). 

18. There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors of the Company during the year. Accordingly, the provisions stated under clause 3(xviii) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

19. On the basis of the financial ratios (refer note 40 to the financial statements), ageing and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements and our knowledge of the Board of Directors and 
Management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report indicating that Company is not capable of meeting its 
liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the 
date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

20. (a) The provision of section 135(5) of the Companies Act 2013 are not applicable on the Company.

For  PRAKASH K PRAKASH
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 000415

Pankaj Kumar Singh
Partner
Membership Number: 531495

Place: Delhi
Date:  27th September, 2025

10. (a) the Company has not raised any money by way of initial public offer or further public offer (including debt instruments) during the year. Hence, reporting under this clause is not applicable. 
 
(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the records of the Company, the Company has made preferential allotment of shares during the year and the requirements of Section 42 and Section 62 of the Companies Act, 2013, have 
been complied with. The amount raised has been used for the purpose for which they were raised. 
 
11. (a) To the best of our knowledge, no fraud by the Company and no fraud on the Company has been noticed or reported during the year.

(b) No report under sub-section (12) of Section 143 of the Companies Act has been filed in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government, during the year and up to the date of this report.
 
(c) As per Section 177(9) of the Act, the Company is not mandatorily required to establish whistleblower mechanism. We have also been informed by the Company, that it does not have any whistleblower mechanism. 

12. The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under this clause not applicable. 

13. The Company is in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of the Act, wherever applicable, for all the transactions with the related parties and the details of such transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting standards.

14. As per Section 138 of the Companies Act, the Company is not mandatorily required to have an Internal Audit system. Hence, reporting under this clause is not applicable.

15. The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected with them and hence provisions of Section 192 of the Act are not applicable.

16. (a & b) The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. Hence, reporting under this clause is not applicable.

(c & d) The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulation made by the Reserve Bank of India. Hence`, reporting under this clause is not applicable.
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For  PRAKASH K PRAKASH
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 000415

Pankaj Kumar Singh
Partner
Membership Number: 531495

Place: Delhi
Date:  27th September, 2025

(Annexure 2 referred to in paragraph 2(f) ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ of our report of even date to the members of Medusa Beverages Private Limited on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2025.)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to the aforesaid Financial Statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements of Medusa Beverages Private Limited (“the Company”) as at March 31, 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (Guidance Note). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013 (Act).

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing as prescribed under Section 143(10) of 
the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
adequate internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements were established and maintained and whether such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements included 
obtaining an understanding of such internal financial controls, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal 
financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements.

A Company’s internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of Financial Statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A Company’s internal financial control with reference to the Financial Statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of Financial Statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the Financial Statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls with reference to Financial Statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to the Financial 
Statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements and such internal financial 
controls with reference to the Financial Statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on the internal controls with reference to Financial 
Statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the ICAI.

ANNEXURE TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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I. EQUITY & LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
          (a) Share Capital 3 646.13                         499.34                               
          (b) Reserves & Surplus 4 5,523.26                      1.01                                   

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
          (a) Long term Borrowings 5 18.14                           101.43                               
          (b) Long term Provisions 9 24.12                           17.56                                 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
          (a) Short term borrowings 6 2,076.55                      2,979.38                            
          (b) Trade Payables 7
             -Total outstanding dues to Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises 49.71                           35.05                                 
             -Total outstanding dues to other than Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises 1,225.49                      302.18                               
          (c) Other current liabilities 8 1,185.49                      1,238.40                            
          (d) Short term Provisions 9 4.67                             0.69                                   

Total Liabilities 10,753.55                    5,175.03                            

II. ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS
          (a) Property Plant & Equipment 10

(i) Tangible Assets 104.08                         68.28                                 
(ii) Intangible Assets 3.07                             3.44                                   
(iii) Capital work-in-progress 46.59                           -                                    
(iii) Intangible assets under development 22.59                           -                                    

          (b) Non-Current Investments 11 24.92                           20.00                                 
          (c) Deferred Tax Assets 12 -                               4.25                                   
          (d) Other Non Current Assets 14 965.84                         104.06                               

CURRENT ASSETS
          (a) Inventories 15 2,545.89                      761.56                               
          (b) Trade Receivables 16 4,776.05                      3,180.12                            
          (c) Cash and cash Equivalents 17 1,901.57                      874.46                               
          (d) Short term Loans and advances 13 307.76                         105.85                               
          (e) Other Current Assets 18 55.18                           53.01                                 

Total Assets 10,753.55                    5,175.03                            

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 3-43

As per our report of even date attached

For Prakash K Prakash For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Medusa Beverages Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No. 00415N

Pankaj Kumar Singh Amardeep Singh Avneet Singh
Partner Director Managing Director & CEO
Membership No. 531495 DIN: 07240520 DIN: 06428849

Place : New Delhi

Date : 27 September 2025

Notes
 As at 

March 31, 2025 
 As at 

March 31, 2024 

(All amounts in INR lakhs, except otherwise stated)

 Notes 
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025 
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 

INCOME

Revenue from Operations 19            15,609.93                         13,222.01                         
Other Income 20            64.70                                26.32                                
TOTAL INCOME 15,674.63                         13,248.33                         

EXPENSES

Cost of Material Consumed 21            4,048.49                           2,800.23                           
 Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and
 stock-in-trade 

22            
(1,450.35)                          

11.75                                
 Excise Duty 23            9,878.87                           8,272.15                           
 Contract Manufacturing Fee 24            1,174.03                           840.12                              
Employee Benefit Expenses 25            555.52                              374.20                              
Finance Costs 26            199.50                              113.56                              
Depreciation and Amortisation expense 10            17.94                                6.60                                  
Other Expenses 27            1,666.92                           1,117.01                           
TOTAL EXPENSES 16,090.92                         13,535.61                         

PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (416.29)                             (287.28)                             

Tax Expenses
a. Current Tax

                 -Current Year -                                   -                                    
                 -Previous Year 0.46                                  -                                    

b. Deferred Tax Expense/(Income) 4.25                                  (3.69)                                 

PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (421.00)                             (283.59)                             

Earnings Per Equity Share (Face Value Rs. 10/- each)
Basic (8.13)                                 (80.29)                               
Diluted -                                   (80.21)                               

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 3-43
As per our report of even date attached

For Prakash K Prakash For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Medusa Beverages Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No. 00415N

Pankaj Kumar Singh Amardeep Singh Avneet Singh
Partner Director Managing Director & CEO
Membership No. 531495 DIN: 07240520 DIN: 06428849

Place : New Delhi

Date : 27 September 2025

30            

(All amounts in INR Lakhs, except otherwise stated)

Standalone Balance Sheet as at
March 31, 2025

Standalone Statement of Profit & Loss for the
year ended March 31, 2025 
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 For the period from  For the period from 
 April 1, 2024 to 
March 31, 2025 

 April 1, 2023 to 
March 31, 2024 

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit After Tax (421.00)                            (283.59)                           
Adjustment for :
Finance Costs 199.50                              113.56                             
Depreciation and Amortization 17.94                                6.60                                 
Interest Income (59.68)                              (15.76)                             
Deferred Tax 4.25                                  (3.69)                               

Operating profit before working capital changes (258.99)                            (182.88)                           

Changes in working Capital:

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (1,784.34)                         (29.81)                             
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade Receivables and other Assets (1,598.11)                         (1,845.15)                        
(Increase)/Decrease in Short Term Loan and advances (201.91)                            56.67                               
(Increase)/Decrease in Security Deposits (Other NCA) (129.14)                            (0.96)                               
(Increase)/Decrease in Sundry Creditors 937.98                              187.32                             
Increase /(Decrease) in Current Liabilities & Provisions (38.97)                              863.61                             

Cash generation from Operation (3,073.47)                         (768.31)                           
Payment of Direct Taxes -                                   
Net Cash generated/ (used) - Operating Activities (3,073.47)                         (951.19)                           

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets (122.56)                            (55.33)                             
Fixed Deposits with bank (net) (618.89)                            (448.99)                           
Interest income on FDR 59.68                                15.76                               
Investment (4.92)                                (20.00)                             

Net Cash Generated/ (Used) - Investing Activities (686.69)                            (508.57)                           

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long term borrowings 18.14                                -                                   
Repayment of long term borrowings (101.43)                            -                                   
Proceeds from/ (Repayment) of short term borrowings (net) (902.84)                            908.04                             
Issue for Equity Shares 5,235.04                          466.00                             
Issue of Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS)* 480.00                              370.50                             
Issue of Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (CCD)* 375.00                              -                                   
Finance Cost Paid (202.91)                            (113.90)                           
Net Cash Generated/ (Used) - Financing Activities 4,901.01                          1,630.64                         

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (A+B+C) 1,140.85                          170.83                             
Add : Opening Cash and Cash Equivalents 425.47                              254.65                             
Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,566.32                          425.47                             

As per our report of even date attached 1,566.322415                  

For Prakash K Prakash For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Medusa Beverages Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No. 00415N

Pankaj Kumar Singh Amardeep Singh Avneet Singh
Partner Director Managing Director & CEO
Membership No. 531495 DIN: 07240520 DIN: 06428849

Place : New Delhi

Date : 27 September 2025

(All amounts in lakhs, unless stated otherwise)

The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Accounting Standard 3 as notified 
under Section 211(3C)/ Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules 2006, as amended and other relevant provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

Figures in parenthesis indicate cash outgo.

Previous year figures have been regrouped/ recast wherever necessary to conform the current year classification.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements.

*CCPS & CCD issued during FY 2023-24 and FY 2024-25, converted into equity shares in FY 2024-25

Standalone Cash Flow Statement for the
Period Ended March 31, 2025

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025
1. General Information

"Medusa Beverages Private Limited (‘the Company’) is a private limited company incorporated on April 18, 2017 under the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013. The Company’s Registered office & Principal Place of business is situated at New Delhi, India and it also operates in Punjab, Chandigarh, Himachal 
Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh, Uttarakhand and Chhattisgarh in India. 

Medusa Beverages got established in 2017 and commenced its sales in early 2018, has established itself today as a pioneering company in the Indian AlcoBev 
Industry."

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(i) Basis of Accounting
"The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in India (Indian GAAP). The 
company has prepared these financial statements to comply in all material respects with the accounting standards referred to section 133 and relevant 
provisions of the Companies Act 2013. The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical cost convention. The 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of financial statements are consistent with those of previous year."

(ii) Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements requires estimates and assumptions to be made that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities on the date 
of the financial statements  and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Difference between  the actual results and 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the results are known/ materialised.

(iii) Classification of Assets and Liabilities as Current and Non Current
All assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal operating cycle and other criteria set out in Schedule III to the 
Companies Act, 2013. Based on the nature of products and the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash 
equivalents, twelve months has been considered by the Company for the purpose of current/ non-current classification of assets and liabilities.

(iv) Provisions and Contingent Liability
A provision is recognized when an enterprise has a present obligation as a result of past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made. Provisions except those disclosed elsewhere are not discounted to its present value 
and are determined based on best estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date. These are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
are adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

A disclosure is made for possible of present obligations that may but probably will not require outflow or resources or where a reliable estimate cannot be 
made, as a contingent liability in the financial statements.

(v) Property, Plant and Equipment
"Fixed assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The cost comprises purchase price and directly 
attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. Any trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase 
price.

Subsequent expenditure related to an item of fixed asset is added to its book value only if it increases the future benefits from the existing asset beyond its 
previously assessed standard of performance. All other expenses on existing fixed assets, including day-to-day repair and maintenance expenditure and 
cost of replacing parts, are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year during which such expenses are incurred.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of fixed assets are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the asset is derecognized."
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025

vi) Depreciation and amortization 

(a) Tangible Assets 
Depreciation on tangible assets has been provided at straight line method method as per the rates and manner prescribed in 
the schedule II to the Companies  Act, 2013. Depreciation on addition to or on disposal of assets  is calculated on pro rata basis. 
Depreciation on Leasehold Improvements is based on the lower of unexpired period of lease or estimated useful lives of these 
assets.

The determination of the useful economic life and residual values of property, plant and equipment is subject to management 
estimation. The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at 
each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method as per the estimated useful lives of assets as below:

- Plant & Machinery:  3 to 10 years
- Computers:  3 to 5 years
- Office Equipments:  3 to 10 years
- Software: 3 to 5 years
- Furniture & Fixtures: 5 to 10 years
- Vehicles: 8 to 10 years"

Residual value is as per schedule II of Companies Act, 2013.

(b) Intangible Assets 
Depreciation of Intangible assets are allocated on a systematic basis over the best estimate of their useful life. 

(vii) Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can 
be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. The Company collects Value Added Tax (VAT) on behalf 
of the Government, and accordingly, such amounts are excluded from revenue.
 
Other Operating Revenue:
Other operating revenue comprises income earned from distribution services, brand management services and sale of 
by-products undertaken by the Company in the ordinary course of business. The Company collects Goods and Service Tax 
(GST) on behalf of the Government, and accordingly, such amounts are excluded from revenue.
 
Interest:
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the applicable 
interest rate.

(viii) Foreign Exchange transactions

(ix) Lease
"Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the percentage value of 
the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings or other financial 
liabilities as appropriate. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the statement of 
profit and loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Lease in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Company as lessee are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to statement of profit and loss on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease unless the payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to 
compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases."
  
(x) Taxation 
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current income tax are measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in 
accordance with Income tax Act, 1961. Deferred taxes reflect the impact of current year timing differences between taxable income and 
accounting income for the year and reversal of timing differences of earlier years. 

Provision for tax is made for both Current and Deferred Taxes. Current Tax is provided on the  taxable income using the applicable tax rates and 
tax laws, Deferred Tax assets and liabilities arising on account of timing difference, which are capable of reversal in subsequent periods are 
recognized using tax rates and tax laws, which have been enacted or substantively enacted. Deferred Tax assets, subject to the consideration of 
prudence, are recognized and carried forward only to the extent that there is a reasonable certainty that sufficient taxable income will be 
available against which such deferred tax can be realized.

Deferred tax assets on items other then unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward tax losses, are recognised only to the extent that there is 
reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. If the 
Company has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward tax losses, deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is virtual certainty supported 
by convincing evidence that such deferred tax assets can be realised against future taxable profits. At each balance sheet date the Company 
re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets.  It recognises unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent that it has become reasonably 
certain or virtually certain, as the case may be that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can 
be realised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. The company writes-down the carrying amount of a 
deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that sufficient future taxable income 
will be available against which deferred tax asset can be realised. Any such write-down is reversed to the extent that it becomes reasonably 
certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that sufficient future taxable income will be available.
  
(xi) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and on hand and short-term investments with maturity of three months 
or less.

(xii) Borrowing Costs
"Borrowing costs relating to acquisition/construction/development of qualifying assets of the company are capitalized until the time all 
substantial activities necessary to prepare the qualifying assets for their intended use are complete. A qualifying asset is one that necessarily 
takes substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use/sale. All other borrowing costs not eligible for capitalization/ inventorization are 
charged to revenue. "

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements

Initial Recognition
Foreign currency transactions are 
recorded in the reporting currency by 
applying to the foreign currency amount 
the exchange rate between the 
reporting currency and the foreign 
currency at the date of the transaction. 

Exchange Differences
Exchange differences arising on the 
settlement of monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were 
initially recorded during the year, or 
reported in previous financial statements, 
are recognized as income or as expenses 
in the year in which they arise. 

Conversion
Outstanding Foreign Currency 
monetary items at year end are 
reported using the closing rate.
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(xiii) Inventories
"Finished goods, stock in trade and work-InProgress are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost includes cost of conversion and other expenses incurred in bringing the goods to their location and condition. Raw materials, packing materials, stores and 
spares are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value. The excise duties on finished goods which is already paid at the time of transfer of finished goods from manufacturing units to depots/warehouse is included the value of finished goods."

(xiv) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year is adjusted for events of bonus issue; bonus element in a rights issue to existing shareholders; share split; and reverse share split (consolidation of shares) and shares bought back.
 
(xv) Net profit or loss for the period, prior period items and changes in accounting policies.
During the year under review, there are no material changes in the accounting policies. 

(xvi) Investments
"Investments, which are readily realizable and intended to be held for not more than one year from the date on which such investments are made, are classified as current investments. All other investments are classified as long-term investments.

On initial recognition, all investments are measured at cost. The cost comprises purchase price and directly attributable acquisition charges such as brokerage, fees and duties. If an investment is fully acquired or partly acquired, by issue of shares or other securities 
, the acquisition cost is the fair value of the securities issued.

Current investments are carried in the financial statements at lower of cost and fair value determined on an individual investment basis. Long term investments are carried at cost . However, provision for diminution in value is made to recognize a decline other 
than temporary in the value of the investments.

On disposal of an investment, the difference between its carrying amount and net disposal proceeds is charged or credited to the statement of profit and loss."

(xvii) Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent assets
 Provisions are recognized for liabilities that can be determined only by using a substantial degree of estimation, if

-  The company has a present obligation as a result of past event or;
-  A probable outflow of resources is expected to settle the obligation: and 
-  The amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.
 
 Reimbursements by another party, expected in respect of expenditure required to settle a provision, is recognized when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if obligation is settled.
 
 Contingent liability is disclosed in the case of :
 -   a present obligation arising from a past event, when it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. 
 -  a possible obligation that arises out of  past events  and the existence of which will be confirmed only by one or more uncertain future events. 
 
Contingent assets are neither recognized nor disclosed. However, when the realization of income is virtually certain, related asset is recognized
 
(xviii) Employee Benefits
 Employee Benefits include provident fund, employee state insurance and gratuity
 
 Defined contribution plans
The Company's contribution to provident fund and employee state insurance scheme are considered as defined contribution plans and are charged as an expense based on the amount of contribution required to be made and when services are rendered by the 
employees."
 
 Retirement Benefit Plan
The company operates a defined benefit plan for its employees, viz., gratuity. The cost of providing benefits under this plan is determined on the basis of actuarial valuation at each year-end using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains and losses for 
the said defined benefit plan are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in the statement of profit and loss. "

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025 Notes to Standalone Financial Statements

3.4

3.5

The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of ₹ 10 each per share. Each fully paid up share carries one vote. Dividend, if any, proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of

shareholders in an annual general meeting except in the case of interim dividend. In the event of litigation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the company after distribution

of all preferential amounts in proportion of their shareholding.       

Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to Equity Shares

Rights, Preferences, Terms  and Restrictions as regards to Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares

"The Company issued 1,33,380 Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) during FY 2023-24 and subsequently allotted an additional 1,72,800 CCPS during FY 2024-25 in accordance with the 

provisions of respective Share Subscription and Shareholders’ Agreement (SSHA). The key terms of CCPS, were  as under:

1. Each Compulsorily Convertible Preference Share (CCPS) shall automatically convert into equity shares at a mandatory conversion ratio of 1:1, at the discretion of the Investors, either: 

(a) Upon the occurrence of a liquidation event or

(b) Immediately before the occurrence of mergers, acquisitions, of the company, or

(c) Immediately before the IPO (Initial Public Offering), or

(d) Immediately before the occurrence of stock splits, stock dividends, or any other reorganizations of the company's capital structure, or

(e) Upon the achievement of the agreed milestones, as decided amicably by the Majority of Investors, whichever is earlier.

2. Pursuant to the above terms, a total of 3,06,180 CCPS were converted into equity shares in January 2025."       

(All amounts in lakhs, unless stated otherwise)

3 Share Capital
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Authorised

65,00,000 (Previous Year 65,00,000) Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each 650.00                         650.00                       

10,00,000 (Previous Year 10,00,000) Preference Shares of ₹ 10 
each 100.00                         100.00                       

750.00                         750.00                       

Issued, Subscribed and fully Paid-up

646.13                         486.00                       
-                               13.34                         

Share capital 646.13                         499.34                       

3.1
Reconciliation of number of equity shares & preference 
shares outstanding

 Equity Shares
 Particulars 

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
 Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each 
 Shares outstanding at the beginning of the period 48,60,000              486.00                         2,00,000                     20.00                         

 Add: CCPS Converted during the period 3,06,180                30.62                           -                              -                             

 Add: CCD Converted during the period 93,135                   9.31                             -                              -                             

 Add: Shares Issued during the period 12,02,008              120.20                         46,60,000                   466.00                       

Shares outstanding at the end of the period 64,61,323              646.13                         48,60,000                   486.00                       

 Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) 
 Particulars 

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
 Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares of ₹ 10 each 
 CCPS outstanding at the beginning of the period 1,33,380                13.34                           -                              -                             
 CCPS Issued during the period 1,72,800                17.28                           1,33,380                     13.34                         
 CCPS Converted into equity shares during the year  (3,06,180)               (30.62)                          -                              -                             
 CCPS outstanding at the end of the period -                         -                               1,33,380                     13.34                         

            As at March 31, 2025             As at March 31, 2024

64,61,323 (Previous Year 48,60,000) Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each
NIL (Previous Year 1,33,380) Preference Share Capital of ₹ 10 each

            As at March 31, 2025             As at March 31, 2024

3.2 Details of equity shareholders holding more than 5%  shares 
along with number of shares held

No. of shares % of holding No. of shares % of holding

 Modern Metal Industries LLP 48,30,000              74.75% 48,30,000                   99.38%
 Viral Amal Parikh 5,51,060                8.53% -                              0.00%

Total 53,81,060              83.28% 48,30,000                   99.38%

3.3 Details of equity shares held by promoters as at March 31, 
2025

No. of shares % of holding  % change during 
the year 

 Modern Metal Industries LLP 48,30,000                    74.75% 0.00%
 Jasbeer Singh 30,000                         0.46% 0.00%
 Satinder Kaur 3,600                           0.06% 100.00%
 Amarjeet Kaur 3,600                           0.06% 100.00%

Total 48,67,200                    75.33% 200.00%

Details of equity shares held by promoters as at March 31, 
2024

No. of shares % of holding  % change during 
the year 

  Modern Metal Industries LLP 48,30,000                    99.38% 7690.32%
  Jasbeer Singh 30,000                         0.62% 0.00%

Total 48,60,000                    100.00% 7690.32%

Shareholder's Name

Shareholder's Name

Shareholder's Name

            As at March 31, 2024            As at March 31, 2025

4 Reserve and Surplus
            As at March 31, 2025             As at March 31, 2024

Security Premium Reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year 357.16                         -                             
Add: Share Premium Received During the year 5,943.25                      357.16                       
Balance at the end of the year (a) 6,300.42                      357.16                       

Surplus/(Deficit) in Statement of Profit and Loss
Balance at the beginning of the year (356.16)                        (72.57)                        
Profit/(Loss) for the period (421.00)                        (283.59)                      
Balance at the end of the year (b) (777.16)                        (356.16)                      

Total Reserves & Surplus (a+b) 5,523.26                      1.01                           

5 Long Term Borrowings
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Term loans (Working Capital, Secured)*
From Banks 101.43                         133.73                       

(101.43)                        (32.30)                        
*Refer Note 29 -                               101.43                       

Term loans (Vehicle Loan, Secured)*
From Banks 25.13                           -                             

(6.99)                            -                             
*Refer Note 29 18.14                           -                             

Compulsorily Convertible Debenture
-                               -                             

375.00                         -                             
(375.00)                        -                             

-                               -                             
*Refer Note 5.1

Total 18.14                           101.43                       

Less: Amount disclosed in current maturities of long term borrowings

Less: Amount disclosed in current maturities of long term borrowings

Balance at the beginning of the year
Add: Debentures issued during the year
Less: Debentures converted into equity shares during the year
Balance at the end of the year
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5.1

6 Short Term Borrowings
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Loans repayable on demand*
   - Working capital borrowing from banks (Secured) 1,968.13                      1,829.09                    
   - from other parties (Unsecured) -                               1,118.00                    

Current Maturities of long term borrowings*
   - From Banks (Secured) 101.43                         32.30                         
   - From Banks (Vehicle Loan, Secured) 6.99                             -                             

Total 2,076.55                      2,979.38                    
*Refer Note 29

7 Trade Payables

Trade Payables for Goods & Services
(a) Total outstanding due to Micro Enterprises and Small 
Enterprises 49.71                           35.05                         
(b) Total outstanding due to other than Micro Enterprises and 
Small Enterprises
 - Due to Related Party -                               -                             
 - Due to others 1,225.49                      302.18                       

Total 1,275.21                      337.22                       

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2025

Particulars
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total

(i) MSME 49.71                                            -                         -                               -                              49.71                         
(ii) Others 1,198.30                                       27.19                     -                               -                              1,225.49                    
(iii) Disputed dues- MSME -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iv) Disputed dues - Others -                                                -                         -                                -                              -                             

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2024

Particulars
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total

(i) MSME 35.05                                            -                         -                               -                              35.05                         
(ii) Others 302.18                                          -                         -                               -                              302.18                       
(iii) Disputed dues- MSME -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iv) Disputed dues - Others -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             

8 Other Current Liabilities

Statutory Liabilities                                       (1,240.10) 1,101.47                      1,186.84                    
Accrued Interest 14.74                           11.33                         

Rights and Terms as regards to Compulsorily Convertible Debenture

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

            As at March 
31, 2025

            As at March 
31, 2024

"Pursuant to the Principal Agreement dated 23rd September 2024, the Company had issued Compulsory Convertible Debentures (CCDs) of INR 375 lacs during FY 

2024-25 which were originally agreed to be converted into Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) upon completion of a Qualified Financing round. 

Subsequently, the terms were amended vide Addendum dated 10th January 2025, whereby it was mutually agreed that the CCDs would be converted into Equity 

Shares instead of CCPS.

Therefore, in accordance with the amended terms, on 20th January 2025, In lieu of the 375000 debentures of INR 10 each, the Company allotted 93,135 (Nine-

ty-Three Thousand One Hundred Thirty-Five) Equity Shares of face value INR 10 each, fully paid-up, upon conversion of CCDs."  

 
Employee Related Liabilities 48.91                           33.05                         
Security Deposits from Customer 5.00                             -                             
Provision for Expenses 14.99                           -                             
Advances from Customer 0.38                             7.19                           

Total Other current liabilities 1,185.49                      1,238.40                    

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025 Notes to Standalone Financial Statements

9 Provisions

Particulars
            As at 

March 31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Provision for employee benefit
Provision for Gratuity 24.12                     17.56                           4.67                            0.69                           

Total 24.12                     17.56                           4.67                            0.69                           

11 Non-Current Investments

Particulars
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

20.00

                          

 20.00                         

Gold Coins 4.92

                            

 -                             

24.92                           20.00                         

12 Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred Tax Assets (Net) -                               4.25                           

Total -                               4.25                           

13 Loans and Advances

Particulars
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Unsecured, Considered Good
Advances to Vendors 97.66                           45.44                         
Prepaid Expenses 140.56                         41.69                         
Balance with Government Authorities 65.10                           13.08                         
Advances to Employees 4.44                             5.64                           

Total 307.76                         105.85                       
 Short term loans and advances

14 Other Non Current Assets

Particulars
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Unsecured, Considered good
Security Deposits 233.20                         104.06                       

Fixed Deposits (with maturity more than 12 months) 732.64                         -                             
(to the extent held as margin money or security against the 
borrowings, guarantees, other commitments and Encumbered in 
favor of excise authorities)

Total 965.84                         104.06                       

15 Inventories

(Valued at lower of cost and net realizable value, unless 
stated other wise)
Finished Goods                        1,733.72 415.57                       
Work-in-progress                           160.49 28.29                         

Raw Material (including consumables and marketing collaterals)                           651.68                        317.69 

Total 2,545.89                      761.56                       

Long Term Short Term 

Investment in Medusa Spirits Private Limited (Wholly Owned 
Subsidiary); 200000 Shares - face value of INR 10 each
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16 Trade Receivables

Trade Receivables from related party -                               -                             
Unsecured, Considered Good

Trade Receivables from others
Unsecured, Considered Good 4,776.05                      3,180.12                    

 
Total 4,776.05                      3,180.12                    

Trade Receivables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2025

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025 Notes to Standalone Financial Statements

Particulars

Not Due
Less than 6 

months  6 months -1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables -considered good 1,952.40           2,204.94           267.54                                          128.93                   91.08                           131.17                        4,776.05                    
(ii) Undisputed Trade receivables -considered doubtful -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iii) Disputed trade receivables  considered good -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iv) Disputed trade receivables  considered doubtful -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             

Trade Receivables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2024

Particulars

Not Due
Less than 6 

months  6 months -1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables -considered good 1,894.68           966.18              63.77                                            122.46                   59.99                           73.03                          3,180.12                    
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables -considered doubtful -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iii) Disputed trade receivables  considered good -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iv) Disputed trade receivables  considered doubtful -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

17 Cash and Cash Equivalents
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Cash on hand 46.48                           46.88                         
Bank Balances
 - In Current Accounts 3.63                             378.60                       
Fixed Deposits (with maturity 3 months or less) 1,516.22                      -                             

Other Bank Balances
Fixed Deposits (with maturity 3 months or less) 0.72                             -                             
(Encumbered in favor of excise authorities)

Fixed Deposits (with maturity more than 3 months but less than 
one year of maturity) 334.53                         448.99                       
(to the extent held as margin money or security against the 
borrowings, guarantees, other commitments and Encumbered in 
favor of excise authorities)

Total 1,901.57                      874.46                       

18 Other Current Assets

Unsecured, Considered good
Other Current Assets 48.43                           53.01                         
Security Deposits 6.75                             -                             

Total 55.18                           53.01                         

19 Revenue from Operations

Revenue from Sale of Alcoholic Beers 15,302.32                    13,160.80                  
Other operating revenues 307.61                         61.21                         

Total Income 15,609.93                    13,222.01                  

20 Other Income

Interest on Income Tax Refund 0.41                             0.10                           
Interest Income from FDRs' 59.68                           15.76                         
Miscellaneous Income 4.62                             10.47                         

Total 64.70                           26.32                         

21 Cost of Material Consumed

Inventories at beginning of the year                           317.69                        276.14 
Add: Purchases                        4,382.48                     2,841.78 
Less: Inventories at end of the year                           651.68                        317.69 

Consumption                        4,048.49                     2,800.23 

22
Change in Inventories of Finished Goods and Work-in-
progress

Inventories at beginning of the year
Finished Goods                           415.57                        424.69 
Work In Progress                             28.29                          30.92 

Inventories at end of the year
Finished Goods 1,733.72                                             415.57 
Work In Progress 160.49                                                  28.29 

Decrease/(Increase in Inventories)                      (1,450.35)                          11.75 

23 Excise Duty
Excise Duty (incl. other excise levies) 9,878.87                      8,272.15                    

Total 9,878.87                      8,272.15                    

24 Contract Manufacturing Fee
Conversion charges 1,174.03                      840.12                       

Total 1,174.03                      840.12                       

25 Employee Benefit Expenses

Salaries, wages, bonus and other allowances 529.31                         OK 366.34                       
Staff Welfare Expenses 7.01                             OK 7.86                           
Contribution to provident and other funds 19.20                           OK -                             

Total 555.52                         374.20                       

26 Finance Costs

Interest on loan 199.50                         113.56                       

Total 199.50                         113.56                       
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27 Other Expenses
For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Sales promotion expenses
Outward freight, halting and breakage expenses
Trade Payout
Licence Fees
Rent
Legal & Professional Charges
Misc. Expenses
Travelling & Conveyance
Software & Subscription expenses
Power and fuel
Repair & Maintenance
Rates & Taxes
Insurance Expenses
Auditor's remuneration
 - Statutory Audit Fees
 - Tax Audit Fees

                                               
                                               
                                               
                                               
                           
                           
                            
                           
                           
                           
                            
                            
                            

2.75                             1.20                           
1.00                             -                             

Total 1,666.92                      1,117.01                    

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements
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Note 10: Property, plant and equipments Notes to Standalone Financial Statements

Amount in lakhs (INR)

 As on
 1st April 2024  Additions  Disposals   As on

 31st March 2025 
 As on

 1st April 2024 
 Depreciation 

charge for the year 

 Depreciation 
Adjustment Prior 

years 
 Deductions   As on

 31st March 2025 
  As on

 31st March 2025 
  As on

 31st March 2024 

Property, plant and equipments
Computer & Peripherals 17.06                                 12.13                         29.18                      4.47                           6.05                         -                            -                        10.52                   18.66                          12.58                          
Office Equipments 23.55                                 2.86                           26.41                      5.84                           3.60                         0.15                          -                        9.59                     16.82                          17.71                          
Vehicles 10.53                                 -                            10.53                      4.59                           1.18                         -                            -                        5.77                     4.76                            5.94                            
Tool & equipment 1.25                                   36.42                         37.67                      0.02                           3.25                         -                            -                        3.28                     34.39                          1.23                            
Furniture & Fixtures 9.68                                   1.13                           10.82                      0.62                           0.98                         -                            -                        1.59                     9.22                            9.07                            
Leasehold Improvement 24.43                                 0.84                           25.27                      2.67                           2.37                         -                            -                        5.04                     20.23                          21.76                          

TOTAL 86.50                                 53.38                         -                             139.88                    18.21                         17.42                       0.15                          -                        35.79                   104.08                        68.28                          

Intangible Assets
Intangible Assets 3.84                                   -                            -                             3.84                        0.40                           0.36                         -                            -                        0.76                     3.07                            3.44                            

TOTAL 3.84                                   -                            -                             3.84                        0.40                           0.36                         -                            -                        0.76                     3.07                            3.44                            

TOTAL 90.34                                53.38                         -                             143.71                    18.61                         17.79                       0.15                          -                        36.55                   107.16                        71.72                          

Previous Year 34.60                                55.74                         -                             90.34                      12.01                         6.60                         -                            -                        18.61                   71.72                          22.59                          

 Description of Assets 

 Gross Block  Accumulated Depreciation  Net Block 

Capital-Work-in Progress (CWIP) 

(Amount in lakhs (INR))

Less 
than 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

     46.59           -             -             -        46.59 
          -             -             -             -             -   

(Amount in lakhs (INR))

Less 
than 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

          -             -             -             -             -   
          -             -             -             -             -   

CWIP

Amount in CWIP for a period of Total

(a). For Capital-work-in progress ageing schedule

As at 31 March 2025

CWIP

Amount in CWIP for a period of

Total

Projects in progress
Projects temporarily suspended

As at 31 March 2024

Projects in progress
Projects temporarily suspended

(Amount in lakhs (INR))

Less 
than 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

     22.59           -             -             -        22.59 
          -             -             -             -             -   

(Rs. Lakhs)

Less 
than 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

          -             -             -             -             -   
          -             -             -             -             -   

(a). Intangible assets under development ageing schedule

As at 31 March 2025

Projects in progress
Projects temporarily suspended

Total

Projects in progress
Projects temporarily suspended

As at 31 March 2024

Intangible assets under development

Amount in CWIP for a period of

Total

Intangible assets under development

Amount in CWIP for a period of

Intangible assets under development
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Notes to Financial Statements for the year April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025 Notes to Standalone Financial Statements

28      Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
            As at March 31, 

2025
            As at March 31, 

2024

Contingent Liabilities (not provided for) NIL NIL
Claim against the company not acknowledged as debts NIL NIL

Capital Commitments* 15.41                               NIL

29      Terms and Conditions of Borrowings:

Particulars Type of Loan/Purpose Amount as on 31 
March 2025

Amount as on 31 March 
2024

Term Loan Against 
Property - OD Limit* 101.43                  133.73                             

Working Capital Loan (CC 
Limit) from HDFC

1,968.13               1,829.09                          

Term Loan (Vehicle) from 
HDFC

25.13                    NIL

Unsecured Loan Working Capital Purpose NIL 1,118.00                          

Other Notes to Financial Statements (All amounts in lakhs, unless stated otherwise)

Loan from Banks (Secured)

Remarks

Primary Security: Commercial Shop located 
at Lawrence Road, Delhi co-owned by 
director and promoters

Rate of Interest: Applicable MCLR prevailing 
on the first disbursement under each facility 
(whether partial or full) plus spread shall be 
the rate of Interest for that facility until next 
reset date. In reference to the sanction 
letter, rate of interest in 7.4% consisting of 
applicable MCLR rate @ 4% and the spread 
of 3.4%

Terms of Repayment: Payable in 120 equal 
monthly installments

Primary Security: Book debts/Debtors, Stock

Collateral Security: Fixed Deposits, Personal 
guarantee of Director and Shareholders and 
Commercial property owned by relative of 
Director.

Interest rate: In reference to latest sanction 
letter, rate of interest in 8.77% "Spread 
2.52% linked with Repo Rate i.e. 6.50% 
"Prevailing Repo Rate used at the time of 
Setting"

Primary Security: Vehicle 

Rate of Interest is 9.62%, Payable in 39 
equal monthly installments

Unsecured loans availed from third parties 
for working capital requirements; repayable 
on demand, carrying interest rates upto 
14%.

* The company entered into an arrangement for renovation of its lease corporate office situated at JDKD Corporate Park, A-23, Mathura Rd, Mohan Cooperative
Industrial Estate, Delhi

* The Company has settled all dues prior to the balance sheet signing date. Further, a “No Due Certificate” has also been obtained from the bank confirming the
closure of the said facilities.

33 The Company does not have any hedge instrument for foreign currency exposure as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

34 Particulars                               

a. Earnings In Foreign Currency (Accrual Basis) NIL NIL

b. Expenditure in Foreign Currency (Accrual Basis) 8.60 NIL

36 Change in Accounting Treatment for Taxes on Income

37
 

March 31 2025 March 31 2024
Provision for Expenses 4.12                     2.06                                
Statutory Liabilities 6.06                     7.59                                
Sundry Creditors 562.42                 405.60                            
Advance from party 0.38                     88.68                              
Total Liability 572.98                 503.93                            
Advance to Vendor -                       0.01                                
Closing Stock 12.03                   86.65                              
Sundry Debtors 569.24                 424.27                            
Bank Account 0.41                     3.06                                
Prepaid Expenses -                       -                                  
Total Assets 581.68                 513.99                            
Sales 2,674.06              2,837.99                         
Purchases 448.12                 384.56                            
Direct Expenses 1,942.16              2,195.96                         
Indirect Income 4.62                     5.14                                
Indirect Expenses 207.63                 144.51                            
Change in inventory 74.62                   101.90                            

6.15                     16.19                              

As at March 31, 2024

(i) Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the accounting year                                                                49.71                                                              35.05 

Details of dues of Micro and Small Enterprises as defined under The Micro, Small And Medium Enterprises Development (MSMED) Act, 2006

(All amounts in lakhs, unless stated otherwise)
Particulars As at March 31, 2025

(v) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting year                                                                      -                                                                      -   

(ii) Interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the accounting year                                                                      -                                                                      -   

(iii) The amount of interest paid along with the amounts of the payment made to the supplier 
beyond the appointed day

                                                                     -                                                                      -   

(iv) The amount of interest due and payable for the year                                                                      -                                                                      -   

Profit / (loss) During the year

Particular

(vi) The amount of further interest due and payable even in the succeeding year, until such
 date when the interest dues as above are actually paid

                                                                     -                                                                      -   

The Company is into manufacturing arrangement with M/s Manav Breweries Pvt Ltd (controlled manufacturing unit), where the Company maintains control over the
Procurement, Sales, Quality Control, Dispatch, Inventory Risk, Funding etc. Given these factors, the Company has considered itself as “principal” in this arrangement. Even,
the books of the account of the Controlled manufacturing unit is maintained separately by the Company. Consequently, the books of the accounts (trial balance) of the
controlled manufacturing unit is merged with the Company's trial balance including but not limited to products sales, inventory, debtors, creditors, direct & indirect expenses.
The highlights of the controlled manufacturing unit is as under:

In the previous year, the Company had recognized provision for deferred tax in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS-22) “Accounting for Taxes on Income.” 
During the current year, based on the assessment of virtual certainty of future benefits, the Company has changed its accounting policy and has not 
recognized deferred tax provision in the financial statements. Previous years provision of INR 4.25 lacs has been written off.The management believes that 
this change results in a maore appropriate presentation of the financial statements. Consequently, no provision for deferred tax has been made in the 
current year. The effect of this change is that the profit for the year is lower by INR 2.74 lacs and the net assets are lower by INR 5.76 lacs as 
compared to the earlier policy.

31 Segment Reporting (AS-17)

32 

The Company's mainly business is sale of Indian made liquor which consist of revenue more than 98% of total revenue and as such in the opinion of the management this
is the only reportable segment, as per the Accounting Standard 17 on Segment Reporting.     

In the opinion of the Board, the aggregate value of current assets, loans and advances if realised in the ordinary course of business, is not less than the amount at which these
are stated in the Balance Sheet.

30 Earnings Per Share (EPS)

(a) Net Profit for the year (421.00)                           (283.59)                           
(b) Weighted average Number of Equity Shares outstanding during the period 51,78,915                        3,53,205                         
(c) Basic Earnings Per Share (not annualised) (Rs.) - (a) / (b) -8.13                                -80.29                             
(d) Weighted average Number of Convertible Preference Shares outstanding during the period -                                  365.42                            
(e) Diluted Earnings Per Share (not annualised) (Rs.) - (a) / (b+d) -                                  -80.21                             
(e) Nominal Value Per Share (Rs.) 10                                    10                                   
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As at 
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2025

18.25                  -                                  
9.26                    18.25                       
1.63                    -                           
1.62                    -                           

(1.97)                   -                           
28.79                  18.25                              

-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  

28.79                  18.25                              
-                      -                                  

28.79                  18.25                              

9.26                    18.25                              
1.63                    -                                  
-                      -                                  

1.62                    -                                  
-                      -                                  

12.51                  18.25                              

The amount recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows

As at 
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2025

4.67                    0.69                                
24.12                  17.56                              
28.79                  18.25                              

Particulars

Present Value obligation at the year Beginning
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/ loss
Benefits paid

Present value of obligation at year end

Gratuity

- Non-current

Particulars

Present value of defined benefit obligation - wholly unfunded
- Current 

Plan assets at year beginning, at fair value
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gain/ (loss)
Contributions
Benefits paid

Plan assets at year end, at fair value

Present Value of contributions at the end of year
Fair value of plan assets as at the end of the year

Net asset/ (liability) recognised in balance sheet

Current Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net Actuarial (gain)/ loss recognised in the year 
Expenses already recognised

Expenses recognised in the statement of Profit and loss

38 Disclosures as per AS - 15 (Revised) (Employee Benefits) 

(A) The company has recognised the following amounts in the Profit and Loss account for the year:

As at 
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2024

18.14                  -                                  
1.06                    -                                  

(B) Defined Benefit Plans:

As at 
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2025

6.66 % p.a. 7.25 % p.a.
Attrition 10.00% p.a. 10.00% p.a.
Mortality tables IALM 2012-14 IALM 2012-14

24.47 22.3
1.72 1.7

Particulars

Contribution to Provident Fund

The Company provides for gratuity obligations through a defined benefit retirement plan (the Gratuity Plan) covering all the employees. The Gratuity Plan provides a lump
sum payment to vested employees at retirement or termination of employment based on the respective employee salary and years of employment with the Company.
Valuation in respect of Gratuity has been carried out by an independent actuarial consultant, at the balance sheet date based on the following:

Contribution to Employees' State Insurance Scheme

Particulars

Discount rate

Average remaining working life
Average past Service

This space intentionally left blank
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Notes forming part of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
(All amounts are in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Note: 39

Related party Disclosure as identified by the management in accordance with the Accounting Standard - 18

Particulars
Enterprises that directly, or indirectly through one 
or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled 
by, or are under common control with, the 
reporting enterprise (this includes holding 
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);

Key management personnel and relatives of such 
personnel; and

Enterprises over which any person is able to 
exercise significant influence

Transactions with related parties during the year:

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Loan Taken                         5.00                335.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              3.50 
Modern Metal Industries LLP                         5.00                335.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Diamond Buildcon Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              1.00 
Mahadev Buildtech Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              2.50 

Loan Repaid                       22.00                359.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                            88.10 
Modern Metal Industries LLP                       22.00                359.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Diamond Buildcon Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              1.00 
Mahadev Buildtech Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                            82.50 
Mahadev Traders Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              4.60 

Advance Given                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                 0.60                                -                                  -   
Medusa Spirits Private Limited                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                 0.60                                -                                  -   

Salary                             -                           -                   10.00                       -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Avneet Singh                             -                           -                     3.33                       -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Amardeep Singh                             -                           -                     3.33                       -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Balinder Singh                             -                           -                     3.33                       -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   

Convesion to Equity shares                             -                  466.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Modern Metal Industries LLP                             -                  466.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   

Sales                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              6.28 
Modern Hospitality Pvt Ltd                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              6.28 

Subsidiaries Enterprises over which any person is 
able to exercise significant influence

Particulars

Name
Modern Metal Industries LLP (Holding Entity)
Medusa Spirits Pvt Ltd (Subsidiary)

Mr. Avneet Singh
Mr. Amardeep Singh
Mr. Balinder Singh
Mr. Jasbeer Singh

Diamond Buildcon Private Limited
Mahadev Buildtech Private Limited
Mahadev Traders Private Limited
Modern Hospitality Private Limited

 Ultimate Holding Entity having 
significant influence 

Key Management Personnel 
and their Relatives

Balances outstanding with related parties at year end:

Nature of transaction

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Loan Taken                             -                    17.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Modern Metal Industries LLP                             -                    17.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   

Advance Given                             -                           -                         -                         -                 0.60               0.60                                -                                  -   
Medusa Spirits Private Limited                             -                           -                         -                         -                 0.60               0.60                                -                                  -   

Investment                             -                           -                         -                         -               20.00             20.00                                -                                  -   
Medusa Spirits Private Limited                             -                           -                         -                         -               20.00             20.00                                -                                  -   

Share Capital                             -                  483.00                       -                     3.00                   -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Jasbeer Singh                             -                           -                         -                     3.00                   -                     -                                  -   
Modern Metal Industries LLP                             -                  483.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   

Debtor                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                     -                              6.04                            5.64 
Modern Hospitality Pvt Ltd                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                     -                              6.04                            5.64 

 Ultimate Holding Entity having 
significant influence 

Key Management Personnel  
and their Relatives Subsidiaries Enterprises over which any person is 

able to exercise significant influence

Notes to Financial Statements for the year April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025 Notes to Standalone Financial Statements
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(All amounts are in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements

40 Ratio analysis

Numerator Denominator Numerator Denominator Numerator Denominator As at
31 March 2025

As at
31 March 2024

(a) Current Ratio Current Assets / Current 
Liabilities

Current Assets = Inventories + Current 
Investment + Trade Receivable + Cash & 
Cash Equivalents + Other Current Assets 
+ Contract Assets + Assets held for Sale

Current Liability = Short term borrowings + Trade Payables + Other 
financial Liability+ Current tax (Liabilities) + Contract Liabilities+ 
Provisions + Other Current Liability

              9,586               4,542          4,975               4,556                   2.11                    1.09 93.28%

Increase in current assets (cash, 
receivables, inventories) compared to 
current liabilities.

(b) Debt-Equity Ratio Debt / Equity Debt= long term borrowing + Short-term 
borrowings

Equity=  Share capital  + Reserve and Surplus               2,095               6,169          3,081                  500                   0.34                    6.16 -94.49%
1. Conversion of Loan to equity during the 
year
2. Issue of CCPS and CCD and their 
conversion
3. Issue of fresh equity

(c ) Debt Service Coverage 
Ratio

Net Operating Income / 
Debt Service 

Net Operating Income= Net profit before 
taxes + Non-cash operating expenses + 
finance cost

Debt Service =  Interest & Lease Payments + Principal Repayments

                -199                  199                  114                  (1.00)                  (1.47) -32.27%
Increase in borrowings at lower interest 
rates, leading to a relative reduction in 
debt service coverage.

(d) Return on Equity Ratio Profit after tax less pref. 
Dividend x 100 / 

Shareholder's Equity

Net Income= Net Profits after taxes – 
Preference Dividend

Shareholder's Equity                 -421 6,169                        -284 500                                  (0.07)                  (0.57) -87.96%

Fresh equity infusion increased 
denominator

(e ) Inventory Turnover Ratio Cost of Goods Sold / 
Average Inventory

Sales (Opening Inventory + Closing Inventory) /2             15,610               1,169        13,222                  450                 13.35                  29.40 -54.58%
Stock level build up to meet the demand in 
season

(f) Trade Receivables Turnover 
Ratio

Net Credit Sales / Average 
Trade Receivables

Sales (Opening Trade Receivables + Closing Trade Receivables) /2             15,675               3,978        13,248               2,171                   3.94                    6.10 -35.43%

Due to extended credit period
(g) Trade Payables Turnover 

Ratio
Net Credit Purchases / 

Average Trade Payables
Purchases (Opening Trade Payables + Closing Trade Payables) /2               4,382                  806          2,842                  332                   5.44                    8.55 -36.40%

Due to extended credit period
(h) Net Capital Turnover Ratio Revenue / Average 

Working Capital
Revenue Average Working Capital=  Average of Current assets – Current 

liabilities
            15,675               2,732        13,248                  120                   5.74                110.18 -94.79% Increase in working capital (mainly 

inventories and receivables) compared to 
sales led to the variation.

(i) Net Profit Ratio Net Profit / Net Sales Net Profit Net Sales                 -416             15,675           -287             13,248                  (0.03)                  (0.02) 22.48%
(j) Return on Capital Employed EBIT / Capital Employed EBIT= Earnings before interest and taxes Capital Employed= Total Assets - Current Liability                 -217               6,169           -173                  500                  (0.04)                  (0.35) -89.86%

(k) Return on Investment Net Profit / Net Investment Net Profit Net Investment= Net Equity                 -416               6,169           -287                  500                  (0.07)                  (0.57) -88.25%

As at
31 March 2024

RatioS No. Ratio Formula Particulars As at
31 March 2025

Variation Reason (If variation is more than 25%)

Capital employed increased substantially 
due to equity infusion and borrowings, 
while EBIT continued to be negative

-167
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41 Other Statutory information

(a) There is no immovable property are held in the name of the company.

(b) No revaluation of the Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right-of- Use Assets) has been done during the year.

(c) 

(d) The Company does not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the company for holding any Benami property.

(e) 

(f) 

(g) 

(h) Name of struck off Company Nature of transactions 
with struck-off 
Company 

Balance outstanding

Nil Nil Nil

(i) 

(j)

No Loans or Advances in the nature of loans are  granted  to   promoters,  directors,  KMPs  and  the  related  parties  (as  defined  under Companies Act, 2013), 
either severally or jointly with any other person.

The company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial Institution or other lender.

Compliance with number of layers of companies 

The company has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of section 2 of the Act read with the Companies (Restriction on number of 
Layers) Rules, 2017. 

The Company do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period,

The Company does not have any transactions with companies struck off under section 248 of the Companies Act, 2013 or section 560 of Companies Act, 1956,
except the following company;

Relationship with
the Struck off company, if any, to be 
disclosed
Nil

Compliance with  approved Scheme(s) of Arrangements 

(k) Utilisation of Borrowed funds and share premium:
As per our report of even date

For Prakash K Prakash For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Medusa Beverages Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No. 00415N

Pankaj Kumar Singh Amardeep Singh Avneet Singh
Partner Director Managing Director & CEO
Membership No. 531495 DIN: 07240520 DIN: 06428849
Place : New Delhi
Date : 27 September 2025

(i) The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the 

understanding that the Intermediary shall:

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) 

or

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries"   

   

(ii) The Company has not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether 

recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall:

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate

Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries,"   

(l) Undisclosed income

   

The Company does not have any undisclosed income which is not recorded in the books of account that has been surrendered or disclosed 

as income during the year (previous year) in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other 

relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.   

    

(m) Details of  Crypto Currency or Virtual Currency

The Company has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.   

    

(n) Corporate Social Responsibility   

 As per Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, a company, meeting the applicability threshold, needs to spend at least 2% of its average net 

profit for the immediately preceding three financial years on corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities. Since the Company does not 

meet the applicability threshold, the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable to the Company.    

    

42 The Code on Social Security 2020 (‘the Code’) relating to employee benefits, during the employment and post-employment, has received 

Presidential assent on September 28, 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. Further, the Ministry of Labour and 

Employment has released draft rules for the Code on November 13, 2020. However, the effective date from which the changes are applicable 

is yet to be notified and rules for quantifying the financial impact are also not yet issued.    

    

43 Previous year figures have been regrouped/ reclassified, where necessary, to conform to this year’s classification.   

The Company has not entered into any scheme of arrangement.

Notes to Financial Statements for the year April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025

(All amounts are in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements
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To the Members of Medusa Beverages Private limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Medusa 
Beverages Private Limited (“hereinafter referred to as “Company”) & its wholly owned 
subsidiary (hereinafter together referred to as “group”), which comprise the consolidated 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025 and the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the 
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary 
of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter 
referred to as ‘the consolidated financial statements’). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 
us, on separate financial statement and on the other financial information of the wholly 
owned subsidiary, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information 
required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with 
the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs 
(financial position) of the Group as at March 31, 2025, their consolidated Loss for the year 
ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), as specified under Section 143(10) of the 
Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information

The Group Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the Other Information. The Other Information comprises the information 
included in the Group Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
  
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated financial statements in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 
(“the Act”) that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position and consolidated financial performance of the Group in accordance with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary are 
responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the  assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting 
frauds and other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial control that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant 
to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used 
for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for 
overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group entities. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.  

c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management

d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of consolidated financial statements and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may  cause  the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern

e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated Financial Statements, including the disclosures, and whether the Consolidated Financial Statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us along with the consideration of audit report of the Wholly owned subsidiary’s auditor referred to in paragraph (a) of the section titled 
“Other Matters” in this audit report, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Group Company regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with  relevant  ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Statutory Auditor’s Report on Consolidated financials
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Other Matter

(a) The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements / financial information of subsidiary, whose audited standalone / financial information reflect total assets of Rs. 15.81 lacs as at 31st March, 2025, total revenues of Rs. Nil for the year ended on that date. This 
financial statements / financial information has been audited by us.

Our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements above and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done.

(b) We have incorporated the Standalone Financial Statements of M/s Manav Breweries Pvt Ltd (controlled manufacturing unit) in the standalone Financial Statements of the Company whose Standalone Financial Statements reflect total assets of Rs. 581.68 Lacs as at 31st March 2025 
and the total revenue of Rs. 2674.06 Lacs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the standalone Financial Statements of these unit have not been audited by us.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, based on our audit, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements;

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidation of the financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and report of the Wholly owned subsidiary’s auditor, except in 
relation to compliance with the requirements of audit trail, refer paragraph (i)(vi) below.

(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements;

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act;

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Company as on March 31, 2025 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Company and the report of the statutory auditor of its wholly owned subsidiary, none of the directors of the Company 
and its wholly owned subsidiary are disqualified as on March 31, 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act;

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to Consolidated Financial Statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A” which is based on the auditors’ reports of the Company & its subsidiary 
company. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of internal financial controls with reference to Consolidated Financial Statements of those companies

(g) The provisions of section 197(16) of the Act as amended related to remuneration paid by the Company to its directors is neither applicable to the Company and nor to its subsidiary.

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the reports of 
subsidiary company:

i. The Consolidated Financial Statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated financial position of the Group, its subsidiary - Refer Note 28 to the Consolidated Financial Statements;

ii. The Company did not enter in to any long-term contracts including derivative contracts during the year ended March 31, 2025. 

iii. There are no amounts which are required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection fund by the Company & its subsidiary during the year ended March 31, 2025.

iv (a) The respective Management of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, whose financial statements have been audited under the Act and being consolidated have represented to us that to the best of their knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material either 
individually and in aggregate) have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the wholly owned subsidiary to or in any other person or entity, including foreign entity (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company or any of such subsidiaries/ associates, (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

(b) The respective Management of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, whose financial statements have been audited under the Act and being consolidated have represented to us that to the best of their knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material either 
individually or in aggregate) have been received by the wholly owned subsidiary from any person or entity, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the wholly owned subsidiary shall, directly or indirectly, 
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

(c) Based on the audit procedures performed that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances performed by us and performed by the subsidiary of Company, whose financial statements have been audited under the Act, nothing has come to our 
notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under subclause (i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), as provided under (a) and (b) above, contain any material misstatement.

(v) The group entity has not declared or paid any dividend during the year.
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(vi) Based on our examination which included test checks, performed by us on the Group, they have used accounting software for maintaining their respective books of account for the financial year ended March 31, 2025 which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility, 
however the same has not enabled throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the respective software. Further, during our audit, we did not come across any instance of audit trail feature being tampered and the audit trail has been preserved by the Company as per 
the statutory requirements for record retention. Our examination of the audit trail was in the context of an audit of financial statements carried out in accordance with the Standard of Auditing and only to the extent required by Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules,2014. 
We have not carried out any audit or examination of the audit trail beyond the matters required by the aforesaid Rule 11(g) nor have we carried out any standalone audit or examination of the audit trail

2. With respect to the matters specified in paragraphs 3(xxi) and 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (the “Order”/ “CARO”) issued by the Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, there are no qualifications or adverse remarks by the auditor of its wholly 
owned subsidiary in the Companies (Auditors Report) Order (CARO) report of the Company included in the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company

For  PRAKASH K PRAKASH
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration Number: 000415

Pankaj Kumar Singh
Partner
Membership Number: 531495

Place: Delhi
Date:  27th September, 2025
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at
March 31, 2025

Consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss for the
year ended March 31, 2025 

 Notes 
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025 
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 

INCOME

Revenue from Operations 19            15,609.93                         13,222.01                         
Other Income 20            64.70                                26.32                                
TOTAL INCOME 15,674.63                         13,248.33                         

EXPENSES

Cost of Material Consumed 21            4,048.49                           2,800.23                           
 Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and
 stock-in-trade 

22            
(1,450.35)                          

11.75                                
 Excise Duty 23            9,878.87                           8,272.15                           
 Contract Manufacturing Fee 24            1,174.03                           840.12                              
Employee Benefit Expenses 25            555.52                              374.20                              
Finance Costs 26            199.50                              113.56                              
Depreciation and Amortisation expense 10            17.94                                6.60                                  
Other Expenses 27            1,667.41                           1,117.84                           
TOTAL EXPENSES 16,091.41                         13,536.44                         

PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (416.78)                             (288.11)                             

Tax Expenses
a. Current Tax

                 -Current Year -                                   -                                    
                 -Previous Year 0.46                                  -                                    

b. Deferred Tax Expense/(Income) 4.25                                  (3.69)                                 

PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (421.49)                             (284.42)                             

Earnings Per Equity Share (Face Value Rs. 10/- each)
Basic (8.14)                                 (80.29)                               
Diluted -                                   (80.21)                               

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 3-43
As per our report of even date attached

For Prakash K Prakash For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Medusa Beverages Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No. 00415N

Pankaj Kumar Singh Amardeep Singh Avneet Singh
Partner Director Managing Director & CEO
Membership No. 531495 DIN: 07240520 DIN: 06428849

Place : New Delhi

Date : 27 September 2025

30            

(All amounts in INR Lakhs, except otherwise stated)

I. EQUITY & LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
          (a) Share Capital 3 646.13                         499.34                              
          (b) Reserves & Surplus 4 5,522.06                      0.30                                  

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
          (a) Long term Borrowings 5 18.14                           101.43                              
          (b) Long term Provisions 9 24.12                           17.56                                

CURRENT LIABILITIES
          (a) Short term borrowings 6 2,076.55                      2,979.38                           
          (b) Trade Payables 7
             -Total outstanding dues to Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises 49.71                           35.05                                
             -Total outstanding dues to other than Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises 1,227.67                      304.11                              
          (c) Other current liabilities 8 1,185.49                      1,238.40                           
          (d) Short term Provisions 9 4.67                             0.69                                  

Total Liabilities 10,754.53                    5,176.25                           

II. ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS
          (a) Property Plant & Equipment 10

(i) Tangible Assets 104.08                         68.28                                
(ii) Intangible Assets 3.07                             3.44                                  
(iii) Capital work-in-progress 46.59                           -                                    
(iii) Intangible assets under development 22.59                           -                                    

          (b) Goodwill on consolidation 5.77                             5.77                                  
          (c) Non-Current Investments 11 4.92                             -                                    
          (d) Deferred Tax Assets 12 -                               4.25                                  
          (e) Other Non Current Assets 14 965.84                         104.06                              

CURRENT ASSETS
          (a) Inventories 15 2,545.89                      761.56                              
          (b) Trade Receivables 16 4,776.05                      3,180.12                           
          (c) Cash and cash Equivalents 17 1,901.84                      874.53                              
          (d) Short term Loans and advances 13 308.30                         106.39                              
          (e) Other Current Assets 18 69.57                           67.85                                

Total Assets 10,754.53                    5,176.25                           

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 3-43

As per our report of even date attached

For Prakash K Prakash For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Medusa Beverages Private Limited

ICAI Firm Registration No. 00415N

Pankaj Kumar Singh Amardeep Singh Avneet Singh

Partner Director Managing Director & CEO
Membership No. 531495 DIN: 07240520 DIN: 06428849

Place : New Delhi

Date : 27 September 2025

Notes
 As at 

March 31, 2025 
 As at 

March 31, 2024 

(All amounts in INR lakhs, except otherwise stated)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the
Period Ended March 31, 2025

Notes to Consolidated  Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED  NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTSFOR THE YEAR APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025
1. General Information

Medusa Beverages Private Limited (‘the Company’) is a private limited company incorporated on April 18, 2017 under the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013. The Company’s Registered office & Principal Place of business is situated at New Delhi, India and it also operates in Punjab, Chandigarh, Himachal 
Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh, Uttarakhand and Chhattisgarh in India. 

Medusa Beverages got established in 2017 and commenced its sales in early 2018, has established itself today as a pioneering company in the Indian AlcoBev 
Industry. The company is holding 100% shares of Medusa Spirits Pvt Ltd (MSPL).  Medusa Spirits Pvt Ltd (the Company) was incorporated on 17th October, 2019 
and is engaged in the business of AlcoBev industry. 

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(i) Basis of Accounting
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in India (Indian GAAP). The 
company has prepared these financial statements to comply in all material respects with the accounting standards referred to section 133 and relevant 
provisions of the Companies Act 2013. The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical cost convention.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of financial statements are consistent with those in subsidiary. Further, this is first year of preparation of 
Consolidation financial statement as share of subsidiary Company acquired during the year.

( ia) Principles of Consolidations
The consolidated financial statements consist of MEDUSA BEVERAGES PRIVATE LIMITED (‘the company’) and its subsidiary Company (collectively referred to 
as “the group”). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the following basis:

a) The financial statements of the company and its subsidiary company are combined on the basis by adding together the book values of like items of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses, after fully Eliminating intra group balances and intra group transactions in accordance with Accounting Standard(AS) 21- 
“Consolidated Financial Statements”

b) The difference between the cost of investment in the subsidiary, over the net assets at the time of acquisition of shares in the subsidiary is recognized in 
the financial statement as Goodwill or Capital Reserve, as the case may be.

c) The difference between the proceed from disposal of investment in subsidiary and the carrying amount of its assets less liabilities as of the date of disposal 
is recognized in the consolidated Profit and Loss Statement being the profit or loss on disposal of investment in subsidiary.
d) Minority Interest’s share of net profit of consolidated subsidiary for the year is identified and adjusted against the income of the group in order to arrive at 
the net income attributable to shareholders of the company.

e) Minority Interest’s share of net assets of consolidated subsidiary is identified and presented in the consolidated balance sheet separate from liabilities and 
the equity of the company’s shareholders.

f) As far as possible, the consolidated financial statement are prepare using information accounting policies for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances and are presented in the same manner as the Company’s Separate financial statements.

g) The Financial statements of the Subsidiaries and Associates used in consolidation are drawn up to the same reporting date i.e. 31st March’ 2025.

The list of Subsidiaries and associates which are included in consolidation and the Group’s holding therein are as under:

Medusa Spirits Pvt Ltd (Wholly owned Subsidiary); Ownership: 100% (FY 2024-25), 100% (FY 2023-24); held directly/through subsidiaries in India.

 For the period from  For the period from 
 April 1, 2024 to 
March 31, 2025 

 April 1, 2023 to 
March 31, 2024 

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit After Tax (421.49)                            (284.42)                           
Adjustment for :
Finance Costs 199.50                              113.56                             
Depreciation and Amortization 17.94                                6.60                                 
Interest Income (59.68)                              (15.76)                             
Deferred Tax 4.25                                  (3.69)                               

Operating profit before working capital changes (259.48)                            (183.71)                           

Changes in working Capital:

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (1,784.34)                         (29.81)                             
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade Receivables and other Assets (1,597.67)                         (1,845.15)                        
(Increase)/Decrease in Short Term Loan and advances (201.91)                            56.67                               
(Increase)/Decrease in Security Deposits (Other NCA) (129.14)                            (0.96)                               
(Increase)/Decrease in Sundry Creditors 938.23                              187.32                             
Increase /(Decrease) in Current Liabilities & Provisions (38.97)                              863.61                             

Cash generation from Operation (3,073.27)                         (768.31)                           
Payment of Direct Taxes -                                   
Net Cash generated/ (used) - Operating Activities (3,073.27)                         (952.02)                           

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Fixed Assets (122.56)                            (55.33)                             
Fixed Deposits with bank (net) (618.89)                            (448.99)                           
Interest income on FDR 59.68                                15.76                               
Investment (4.92)                                (20.00)                             

Net Cash Generated/ (Used) - Investing Activities (686.69)                            (508.57)                           

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long term borrowings 18.14                                -                                   
Repayment of long term borrowings (101.43)                            -                                   
Proceeds from/ (Repayment) of short term borrowings (net) (902.84)                            908.04                             
Issue for Equity Shares 5,235.04                          466.00                             
Issue of Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS)* 480.00                              370.50                             
Issue of Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (CCD)* 375.00                              -                                   
Finance Cost Paid (202.91)                            (113.90)                           
Net Cash Generated/ (Used) - Financing Activities 4,901.01                          1,630.64                         

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (A+B+C) 1,141.05                          170.00                             
Add : Opening Cash and Cash Equivalents 425.54                              255.55                             
Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,566.59                          425.54                             

As per our report of even date attached 1,566.592415                  

For Prakash K Prakash For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Medusa Beverages Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No. 00415N

Pankaj Kumar Singh Amardeep Singh Avneet Singh
Partner Director Managing Director & CEO
Membership No. 531495 DIN: 07240520 DIN: 06428849

Place : New Delhi

Date : 27 September 2025

(All amounts in lakhs, unless stated otherwise)

The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Accounting Standard 3 as notified 
under Section 211(3C)/ Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules 2006, as amended and other relevant provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

Figures in parenthesis indicate cash outgo.

Previous year figures have been regrouped/ recast wherever necessary to conform the current year classification.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Consolidated financial statements.

*CCPS & CCD issued during FY 2023-24 and FY 2024-25, converted into equity shares in FY 2024-25
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CONSOLIDATED  NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025

Consolidated Financials

(ii) Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements requires estimates and assumptions to be made that affect the reported amount of assets 
and liabilities on the date of the financial statements  and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Difference between  the actual results and estimates are recognised in the period in which the results are known/ materialised.
 
(iii) Classification of Assets and Liabilities as Current and Non Current
All assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal operating cycle and other criteria set 
out in Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013. Based on the nature of products and the time between the acquisition of assets for 
processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents, twelve months has been considered by the Company for the purpose 
of current/ non-current classification of assets and liabilities.
 
(iv) Provisions and Contingent Liability
A provision is recognized when an enterprise has a present obligation as a result of past event; it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made. Provisions except those 
disclosed elsewhere are not discounted to its present value and are determined based on best estimate required to settle the 
obligation at the balance sheet date. These are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimates. 
A disclosure is made for possible of present obligations that may but probably will not require outflow or resources or where a reliable 
estimate cannot be made, as a contingent liability in the financial statements.

(v) Property, Plant and Equipment
Fixed assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The cost comprises 
purchase price and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. Any trade discounts 
and rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase price.

Subsequent expenditure related to an item of fixed asset is added to its book value only if it increases the future benefits from the 
existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance. All other expenses on existing fixed assets, including 
day-to-day repair and maintenance expenditure and cost of replacing parts, are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss for the 
year during which such expenses are incurred.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of fixed assets are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the asset is derecognized.

(vi) Depreciation and amortization 

(a) Tangible Assets 
Depreciation on tangible assets has been provided at straight line method method as per the rates and manner prescribed in the 
schedule II to the Companies  Act, 2013. Depreciation on addition to or on disposal of assets  is calculated on pro rata basis. 
Depreciation on Leasehold Improvements is based on the lower of unexpired period of lease or estimated useful lives of these assets.
 
The determination of the useful economic life and residual values of property, plant and equipment is subject to management 
estimation. The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each 
financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method as per the estimated useful lives of assets as below:
 
- Plant & Machinery:  3 to 10 years
- Computers:  3 to 5 years
- Office Equipments:  3 to 10 years
- Software: 3 to 5 years
- Furniture & Fixtures: 5 to 10 years
- Vehicles: 8 to 10 years"
 
Residual value is as per schedule II of Companies Act, 2013.
 
(b) Intangible Assets 
Depreciation of Intangible assets are allocated on a systematic basis over the best estimate of their useful life.

(vii) Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be 
reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. The Company collects Value Added Tax (VAT) on behalf of the 
Government, and accordingly, such amounts are excluded from revenue.
 
Other Operating Revenue:
Other operating revenue comprises income earned from distribution services, brand management services and sale of by-products 
undertaken by the Company in the ordinary course of business. The Company collects Goods and Service Tax (GST) on behalf of the 
Government, and accordingly, such amounts are excluded from revenue.
 
Interest:
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the applicable interest rate.

(viii) Foreign Exchange transactions 
Initial Recognition
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate 
between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.
 
Conversion
Outstanding Foreign Currency monetary items at year end are reported using the closing rate.
 
Exchange Differences
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded 
during the year, or reported in previous financial statements, are recognized as income or as expenses in the year in which they arise. 

This space intentionally left blank
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CONSOLIDATED  NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025

(ix) Lease
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the percentage 
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings or other financial liabilities as appropriate. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the 
statement of profit and loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Lease in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Company as lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to statement of profit and 
loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease unless the payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases.

(x) Taxation 
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current income tax are measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with Income tax Act, 1961. Deferred taxes reflect the impact of current year timing differences between taxable income and 
accounting income for the year and reversal of timing differences of earlier years. 

Provision for tax is made for both Current and Deferred Taxes. Current Tax is provided on the  taxable income using the applicable tax rates and tax laws, Deferred Tax assets and liabilities arising on account of timing difference, which are capable of reversal in subsequent periods are 
recognized using tax rates and tax laws, which have been enacted or substantively enacted. Deferred Tax assets, subject to the consideration of prudence, are recognized and carried forward only to the extent that there is a reasonable certainty that sufficient taxable income will be 
available against which such deferred tax can be realized.

Deferred tax assets on items other then unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward tax losses, are recognised only to the extent that there is reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. If the 
Company has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward tax losses, deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that such deferred tax assets can be realised against future taxable profits. At each balance sheet date the 
Company re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets.  It recognises unrecognised deferred tax assets to the extent that it has become reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be that sufficient future taxable income will be available against which such deferred tax 
assets can be realised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. The company writes-down the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that sufficient future taxable income 
will be available against which deferred tax asset can be realised. Any such write-down is reversed to the extent that it becomes reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that sufficient future taxable income will be available.
  

(xiii) Inventories
Finished goods, stock in trade and work-InProgress are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost includes cost of conversion and other expenses incurred in bringing the goods to their location and condition. Raw materials, packing materials, stores and spares are valued 
at lower of cost or net realisable value. 

The excise duties on finished goods which is already paid at the time of transfer of finished goods from manufacturing units to depots/warehouse is included the value of finished goods.

(xiv) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year is 
adjusted for events of bonus issue; bonus element in a rights issue to existing shareholders; share split; and reverse share split (consolidation of shares) and shares bought back.
 
(xv) Net profit or loss for the period, prior period items and changes in accounting policies.
During the year under review, there are no material changes in the accounting policies. 
 
(xvi) Investments
Investments, which are readily realizable and intended to be held for not more than one year from the date on which such investments are made, are classified as current investments. All other investments are classified as long-term investments.

On initial recognition, all investments are measured at cost. The cost comprises purchase price and directly attributable acquisition charges such as brokerage, fees and duties. If an investment is fully acquired or partly acquired, by issue of shares or other securities , the acquisition 
cost is the fair value of the securities issued.

Current investments are carried in the financial statements at lower of cost and fair value determined on an individual investment basis. Long term investments are carried at cost . However, provision for diminution in value is made to recognize a decline other than temporary in the 
value of the investments.

On disposal of an investment, the difference between its carrying amount and net disposal proceeds is charged or credited to the statement of profit and loss.

Consolidated Financials
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CONSOLIDATED  NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025

(xvii) Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent assets
Provisions are recognized for liabilities that can be determined only by using a substantial degree of estimation, if 

 -   The company has a present obligation as a result of past event or;
 -  A probable outflow of resources is expected to settle the obligation: and 
 -  The amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.
 
Reimbursements by another party, expected in respect of expenditure required to settle a provision, is recognized when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if obligation is settled.
 
Contingent liability is disclosed in the case of :
-   a present obligation arising from a past event, when it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. 
-  a possible obligation that arises out of  past events  and the existence of which will be confirmed only by one or more uncertain future events. 
 
Contingent assets are neither recognized nor disclosed. However, when the realization of income is virtually certain, related asset is recognized

 
(xviii) Employee Benefits
Employee Benefits include provident fund, employee state insurance and gratuity
 
Defined contribution plans

The Company's contribution to provident fund and employee state insurance scheme are considered as defined contribution plans and are charged as an expense based on the amount of contribution required to be made and when services are 
rendered by the employees.
 
Retirement Benefit Plan

The company operates a defined benefit plan for its employees, viz., gratuity. The cost of providing benefits under this plan is determined on the basis of actuarial valuation at each year-end using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains and 
losses for the said defined benefit plan are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in the statement of profit and loss. 

Consolidated Financials
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CONSOLIDATED  NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR APRIL 1, 2024 TO MARCH 31, 2025

Consolidated Financials

3.4

3.5

The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of ₹ 10 each per share. Each fully paid up share carries one vote. Dividend, if any, proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of

shareholders in an annual general meeting except in the case of interim dividend. In the event of litigation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the company after distribution

of all preferential amounts in proportion of their shareholding.       

Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to Equity Shares

Rights, Preferences, Terms  and Restrictions as regards to Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares

"The Company issued 1,33,380 Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) during FY 2023-24 and subsequently allotted an additional 1,72,800 CCPS during FY 2024-25 in accordance with the 

provisions of respective Share Subscription and Shareholders’ Agreement (SSHA). The key terms of CCPS, were  as under:

1. Each Compulsorily Convertible Preference Share (CCPS) shall automatically convert into equity shares at a mandatory conversion ratio of 1:1, at the discretion of the Investors, either: 

(a) Upon the occurrence of a liquidation event or

(b) Immediately before the occurrence of mergers, acquisitions, of the company, or

(c) Immediately before the IPO (Initial Public Offering), or

(d) Immediately before the occurrence of stock splits, stock dividends, or any other reorganizations of the company's capital structure, or

(e) Upon the achievement of the agreed milestones, as decided amicably by the Majority of Investors, whichever is earlier.

2. Pursuant to the above terms, a total of 3,06,180 CCPS were converted into equity shares in January 2025."       

(All amounts in lakhs, unless stated otherwise)

3 Share Capital
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Authorised

65,00,000 (Previous Year 65,00,000) Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each 650.00                         650.00                       

10,00,000 (Previous Year 10,00,000) Preference Shares of ₹ 10 
each 100.00                         100.00                       

750.00                         750.00                       

Issued, Subscribed and fully Paid-up

646.13                         486.00                       
-                               13.34                         

Share capital 646.13                         499.34                       

3.1
Reconciliation of number of equity shares & preference 
shares outstanding

 Equity Shares
 Particulars 

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
 Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each 
 Shares outstanding at the beginning of the period 48,60,000              486.00                         2,00,000                     20.00                         

 Add: CCPS Converted during the period 3,06,180                30.62                           -                              -                             

 Add: CCD Converted during the period 93,135                   9.31                             -                              -                             

 Add: Shares Issued during the period 12,02,008              120.20                         46,60,000                   466.00                       

Shares outstanding at the end of the period 64,61,323              646.13                         48,60,000                   486.00                       

 Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) 
 Particulars 

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
 Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares of ₹ 10 each 
 CCPS outstanding at the beginning of the period 1,33,380                13.34                           -                              -                             
 CCPS Issued during the period 1,72,800                17.28                           1,33,380                     13.34                         
 CCPS Converted into equity shares during the year  (3,06,180)               (30.62)                          -                              -                             
 CCPS outstanding at the end of the period -                         -                               1,33,380                     13.34                         

            As at March 31, 2025             As at March 31, 2024

64,61,323 (Previous Year 48,60,000) Equity Shares of ₹ 10 each
NIL (Previous Year 1,33,380) Preference Share Capital of ₹ 10 each

            As at March 31, 2025             As at March 31, 2024

3.2 Details of equity shareholders holding more than 5%  shares 
along with number of shares held

No. of shares % of holding No. of shares % of holding

 Modern Metal Industries LLP 48,30,000              74.75% 48,30,000                   99.38%
 Viral Amal Parikh 5,51,060                8.53% -                              0.00%

Total 53,81,060              83.28% 48,30,000                   99.38%

3.3 Details of equity shares held by promoters as at March 31, 
2025

No. of shares % of holding  % change during 
the year 

 Modern Metal Industries LLP 48,30,000                    74.75% 0.00%
 Jasbeer Singh 30,000                         0.46% 0.00%
 Satinder Kaur 3,600                           0.06% 100.00%
 Amarjeet Kaur 3,600                           0.06% 100.00%

Total 48,67,200                    75.33% 200.00%

Details of equity shares held by promoters as at March 31, 
2024

No. of shares % of holding  % change during 
the year 

  Modern Metal Industries LLP 48,30,000                    99.38% 7690.32%
  Jasbeer Singh 30,000                         0.62% 0.00%

Total 48,60,000                    100.00% 7690.32%

Shareholder's Name

Shareholder's Name

Shareholder's Name

            As at March 31, 2024            As at March 31, 2025

4 Reserve and Surplus
            As at March 31, 2025             As at March 31, 2024

Security Premium Reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year 357.16                         -                             
Add: Share Premium Received During the year 5,943.25                      357.16                       
Balance at the end of the year (a) 6,300.42                      357.16                       

Surplus/(Deficit) in Statement of Profit and Loss
Balance at the beginning of the year (356.87)                        (72.57)                        
Profit/(Loss) for the period (421.49)                        (284.30)                      
Balance at the end of the year (b) (778.36)                        (356.87)                      

Total Reserves & Surplus (a+b) 5,522.06                      0.30                           

5 Long Term Borrowings
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Term loans (Working Capital, Secured)*
From Banks 101.43                         133.73                       

(101.43)                        (32.30)                        
*Refer Note 29 -                               101.43                       

Term loans (Vehicle Loan, Secured)*
From Banks 25.13                           -                             

(6.99)                            -                             
*Refer Note 29 18.14                           -                             

Compulsorily Convertible Debenture
-                               -                             

375.00                         -                             
(375.00)                        -                             

-                               -                             
*Refer Note 5.1

Total 18.14                           101.43                       

Less: Amount disclosed in current maturities of long term borrowings

Less: Amount disclosed in current maturities of long term borrowings

Balance at the beginning of the year
Add: Debentures issued during the year
Less: Debentures converted into equity shares during the year
Balance at the end of the year
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5.1

6 Short Term Borrowings
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Loans repayable on demand*
   - Working capital borrowing from banks (Secured) 1,968.13                      1,829.09                    
   - from other parties (Unsecured) -                               1,118.00                    

Current Maturities of long term borrowings*
   - From Banks (Secured) 101.43                         32.30                         
   - From Banks (Vehicle Loan, Secured) 6.99                             -                             

Total 2,076.55                      2,979.38                    
*Refer Note 29

7 Trade Payables

Trade Payables for Goods & Services
(a) Total outstanding due to Micro Enterprises and Small 
Enterprises 49.71                           35.05                         
(b) Total outstanding due to other than Micro Enterprises and 
Small Enterprises
 - Due to Related Party -                               -                             
 - Due to others 1,227.67                      304.11                       

Total 1,277.39                      339.15                       

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2025

Particulars
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total

(i) MSME 49.71                                            -                         -                               -                              49.71                         
(ii) Others 1,199.18                                       27.19                     1.30                              -                              1,227.67                    
(iii) Disputed dues- MSME -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iv) Disputed dues - Others -                                                -                         -                                -                              -                             

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2024

Particulars
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total

(i) MSME 35.05                                            -                         -                               -                              35.05                         
(ii) Others 302.81                                          1.30                        -                               -                              304.11                       
(iii) Disputed dues- MSME -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iv) Disputed dues - Others -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             

8 Other Current Liabilities

Statutory Liabilities                                       (1,240.10) 1,101.47                      1,186.84                    
Accrued Interest 14.74                           11.33                         

Rights and Terms as regards to Compulsorily Convertible Debenture

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

            As at March 
31, 2025

            As at March 
31, 2024

"Pursuant to the Principal Agreement dated 23rd September 2024, the Company had issued Compulsory Convertible Debentures (CCDs) of INR 375 lacs during FY 

2024-25 which were originally agreed to be converted into Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares (CCPS) upon completion of a Qualified Financing round. 

Subsequently, the terms were amended vide Addendum dated 10th January 2025, whereby it was mutually agreed that the CCDs would be converted into Equity 

Shares instead of CCPS.

Therefore, in accordance with the amended terms, on 20th January 2025, In lieu of the 375000 debentures of INR 10 each, the Company allotted 93,135 (Nine-

ty-Three Thousand One Hundred Thirty-Five) Equity Shares of face value INR 10 each, fully paid-up, upon conversion of CCDs."  

 
Employee Related Liabilities 48.91                           33.05                         
Security Deposits from Customer 5.00                             -                             
Provision for Expenses 14.99                           -                             
Advances from Customer 0.38                             7.19                           

Total Other current liabilities 1,185.49                      1,238.40                    

9 Provisions

Particulars
            As at 

March 31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Provision for employee benefit
Provision for Gratuity 24.12                     17.56                           4.67                            0.69                           

Total 24.12                     17.56                           4.67                            0.69                           

11 Non-Current Investments

Particulars
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Gold Coins 4.92                             -                             

4.92                           -                         

12 Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred Tax Assets (Net) -                               4.25                           

Total -                               4.25                           

13 Loans and Advances

Particulars
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Unsecured, Considered Good
Advances to Vendors 97.66                           45.44                         
Prepaid Expenses 140.56                         41.69                         
Balance with Government Authorities 65.64 13.62 
Advances to Employees 4.44                             5.64                           

Total 308.30                         106.39                       
 Short term loans and advances

14 Other Non Current Assets

Particulars
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Unsecured, Considered good
Security Deposits 233.20                         104.06                       

Fixed Deposits (with maturity more than 12 months) 732.64                         -                             
(to the extent held as margin money or security against the 
borrowings, guarantees, other commitments and Encumbered in 
favor of excise authorities)

Total 965.84                         104.06                       

15 Inventories

(Valued at lower of cost and net realizable value, unless 
stated other wise)
Finished Goods                        1,733.72 415.57                       
Work-in-progress                           160.49 28.29                         

Raw Material (including consumables and marketing collaterals)                           651.68                        317.69

Total 2,545.89                      761.56                       

Long Term Short Term 
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16 Trade Receivables

Trade Receivables from related party -                               -                             
Unsecured, Considered Good

Trade Receivables from others
Unsecured, Considered Good 4,776.05                      3,180.12                    

 
Total 4,776.05                      3,180.12                    

Trade Receivables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2025

Particulars

Not Due
Less than 6 

months  6 months -1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables -considered good 1,952.40           2,204.94           267.54                                          128.93                   91.08                           131.17                        4,776.05                    
(ii) Undisputed Trade receivables -considered doubtful -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iii) Disputed trade receivables  considered good -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iv) Disputed trade receivables  considered doubtful -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             

Trade Receivables ageing schedule as at March 31, 2024

Particulars

Not Due
Less than 6 

months  6 months -1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables -considered good 1,894.68           966.18              63.77                                            122.46                   59.99                           73.03                          3,180.12                    
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables -considered doubtful -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iii) Disputed trade receivables  considered good -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             
(iv) Disputed trade receivables  considered doubtful -                    -                                                -                         -                               -                              -                             

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

17 Cash and Cash Equivalents
            As at March 

31, 2025
            As at March 

31, 2024

Cash on hand 46.48                           46.88                         
Bank Balances
 - In Current Accounts 3.90 378.67                       
Fixed Deposits (with maturity 3 months or less) 1,516.22                      -                             

Other Bank Balances
Fixed Deposits (with maturity 3 months or less) 0.72                             -                             
(Encumbered in favor of excise authorities)

Fixed Deposits (with maturity more than 3 months but less than 
one year of maturity) 334.53                         448.99                       
(to the extent held as margin money or security against the 
borrowings, guarantees, other commitments and Encumbered in 
favor of excise authorities)

Total 1,901.84                      874.53                       

18 Other Current Assets

Unsecured, Considered good
Other Current Assets 62.82                           67.85                         
Security Deposits 6.75                             -                             

Total 69.57                           67.85                         

19 Revenue from Operations

Revenue from Sale of Alcoholic Beers 15,302.32                    13,160.80                  
Other operating revenues 307.61                         61.21                         

Total Income 15,609.93                    13,222.01                  

20 Other Income

Interest on Income Tax Refund 0.41                             0.10                           
Interest Income from FDRs' 59.68                           15.76                         
Miscellaneous Income 4.62                             10.47                         

Total 64.70                           26.32                         

21 Cost of Material Consumed

Inventories at beginning of the year                           317.69                        276.14 
Add: Purchases                        4,382.48                     2,841.78 
Less: Inventories at end of the year                           651.68                        317.69 

Consumption                        4,048.49                     2,800.23 

22
Change in Inventories of Finished Goods and Work-in-
progress

Inventories at beginning of the year
Finished Goods                           415.57                        424.69 
Work In Progress                             28.29                          30.92 

Inventories at end of the year
Finished Goods 1,733.72                                             415.57 
Work In Progress 160.49                                                  28.29 

Decrease/(Increase in Inventories)                      (1,450.35)                          11.75 

23 Excise Duty
Excise Duty (incl. other excise levies) 9,878.87                      8,272.15                    

Total 9,878.87                      8,272.15                    

24 Contract Manufacturing Fee
Conversion charges 1,174.03                      840.12                       

Total 1,174.03                      840.12                       

25 Employee Benefit Expenses

Salaries, wages, bonus and other allowances 529.31                         OK 366.34                       
Staff Welfare Expenses 7.01                             OK 7.86                           
Contribution to provident and other funds 19.20                           OK -                             

Total 555.52                         374.20                       

26 Finance Costs

Interest on loan 199.50                         113.56                       

Total 199.50                         113.56                       
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27 Other Expenses
For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Sales promotion expenses
Outward freight, halting and breakage expenses
Trade Payout
Licence Fees
Rent
Legal & Professional Charges
Misc. Expenses
Travelling & Conveyance
Software & Subscription expenses
Power and fuel
Repair & Maintenance
Rates & Taxes
Insurance Expenses
Auditor's remuneration
 - Statutory Audit Fees
 - Tax Audit Fees

3.00 1.30 
1.00                             -                             

Total 1,667.41                      1,117.84                    
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Amount in lakhs (INR)

 As on
 1st April 2024  Additions  Disposals   As on

 31st March 2025 
 As on

 1st April 2024 
 Depreciation 

charge for the year 

 Depreciation 
Adjustment Prior 

years 
 Deductions   As on

 31st March 2025 
  As on

 31st March 2025 
  As on

 31st March 2024 

Property, plant and equipments
Computer & Peripherals 17.06                                 12.13                         29.18                      4.47                           6.05                         -                            -                        10.52                   18.66                          12.58                          
Office Equipments 23.55                                 2.86                           26.41                      5.84                           3.60                         0.15                          -                        9.59                     16.82                          17.71                          
Vehicles 10.53                                 -                            10.53                      4.59                           1.18                         -                            -                        5.77                     4.76                            5.94                            
Tool & equipment 1.25                                   36.42                         37.67                      0.02                           3.25                         -                            -                        3.28                     34.39                          1.23                            
Furniture & Fixtures 9.68                                   1.13                           10.82                      0.62                           0.98                         -                            -                        1.59                     9.22                            9.07                            
Leasehold Improvement 24.43                                 0.84                           25.27                      2.67                           2.37                         -                            -                        5.04                     20.23                          21.76                          

TOTAL 86.50                                 53.38                         -                             139.88                    18.21                         17.42                       0.15                          -                        35.79                   104.08                        68.28                          

Intangible Assets
Intangible Assets 3.84                                   -                            -                             3.84                        0.40                           0.36                         -                            -                        0.76                     3.07                            3.44                            

TOTAL 3.84                                   -                            -                             3.84                        0.40                           0.36                         -                            -                        0.76                     3.07                            3.44                            

TOTAL 90.34                                53.38                         -                             143.71                    18.61                         17.79                       0.15                          -                        36.55                   107.16                        71.72                          

Previous Year 34.60                                55.74                         -                             90.34                      12.01                         6.60                         -                            -                        18.61                   71.72                          22.59                          

 Description of Assets 

 Gross Block  Accumulated Depreciation  Net Block 

Capital-Work-in Progress (CWIP) 

(Amount in lakhs (INR))

Less 
than 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

     46.59           -             -             -        46.59 
          -             -             -             -             -   

(Amount in lakhs (INR))

Less 
than 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

          -             -             -             -             -   
          -             -             -             -             -   

CWIP

Amount in CWIP for a period of Total

(a). For Capital-work-in progress ageing schedule

As at 31 March 2025

CWIP

Amount in CWIP for a period of

Total

Projects in progress
Projects temporarily suspended

As at 31 March 2024

Projects in progress
Projects temporarily suspended

(Amount in lakhs (INR))

Less 
than 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

     22.59           -             -             -        22.59 
          -             -             -             -             -   

(Rs. Lakhs)

Less 
than 1 
year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

          -             -             -             -             -   
          -             -             -             -             -   

(a). Intangible assets under development ageing schedule

As at 31 March 2025

Projects in progress
Projects temporarily suspended

Total

Projects in progress
Projects temporarily suspended

As at 31 March 2024

Intangible assets under development

Amount in CWIP for a period of

Total

Intangible assets under development

Amount in CWIP for a period of

Intangible assets under development
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28      Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
            As at March 31, 

2025
            As at March 31, 

2024

Contingent Liabilities (not provided for) NIL NIL
Claim against the company not acknowledged as debts NIL NIL

Capital Commitments* 15.41                               NIL

29      Terms and Conditions of Borrowings:

Particulars Type of Loan/Purpose Amount as on 31 
March 2025

Amount as on 31 March 
2024

Term Loan Against 
Property - OD Limit* 101.43                  133.73                             

Working Capital Loan (CC 
Limit) from HDFC

1,968.13               1,829.09                          

Term Loan (Vehicle) from 
HDFC

25.13                    NIL

Unsecured Loan Working Capital Purpose NIL 1,118.00                          

Other Notes to Financial Statements (All amounts in lakhs, unless stated otherwise)

Loan from Banks (Secured)

Remarks

Primary Security: Commercial Shop located 
at Lawrence Road, Delhi co-owned by 
director and promoters

Rate of Interest: Applicable MCLR prevailing 
on the first disbursement under each facility 
(whether partial or full) plus spread shall be 
the rate of Interest for that facility until next 
reset date. In reference to the sanction 
letter, rate of interest in 7.4% consisting of 
applicable MCLR rate @ 4% and the spread 
of 3.4%

Terms of Repayment: Payable in 120 equal 
monthly installments

Primary Security: Book debts/Debtors, Stock

Collateral Security: Fixed Deposits, Personal 
guarantee of Director and Shareholders and 
Commercial property owned by relative of 
Director.

Interest rate: In reference to latest sanction 
letter, rate of interest in 8.77% "Spread 
2.52% linked with Repo Rate i.e. 6.50% 
"Prevailing Repo Rate used at the time of 
Setting"

Primary Security: Vehicle 

Rate of Interest is 9.62%, Payable in 39 
equal monthly installments

Unsecured loans availed from third parties 
for working capital requirements; repayable 
on demand, carrying interest rates upto 
14%.

* The company entered into an arrangement for renovation of its lease corporate office situated at JDKD Corporate Park, A-23, Mathura Rd, Mohan Cooperative
Industrial Estate, Delhi

* The Company has settled all dues prior to the balance sheet signing date. Further, a “No Due Certificate” has also been obtained from the bank confirming the
closure of the said facilities.

33 The Company does not have any hedge instrument for foreign currency exposure as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

34

35

 Particulars                               

a. Earnings In Foreign Currency (Accrual Basis) NIL NIL

b. Expenditure in Foreign Currency (Accrual Basis) 8.60 NIL

36 Change in Accounting Treatment for Taxes on Income

37
 

March 31 2025 March 31 2024
Provision for Expenses 4.12                     2.06                                
Statutory Liabilities 6.06                     7.59                                
Sundry Creditors 562.42                 405.60                            
Advance from party 0.38                     88.68                              
Total Liability 572.98                 503.93                            
Advance to Vendor -                       0.01                                
Closing Stock 12.03                   86.65                              
Sundry Debtors 569.24                 424.27                            
Bank Account 0.41                     3.06                                
Prepaid Expenses -                       -                                  
Total Assets 581.68                 513.99                            
Sales 2,674.06              2,837.99                         
Purchases 448.12                 384.56                            
Direct Expenses 1,942.16              2,195.96                         
Indirect Income 4.62                     5.14                                
Indirect Expenses 207.63                 144.51                            
Change in inventory 74.62                   101.90                            

6.15                     16.19                              

As at March 31, 2024

(i) Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the accounting year                                                                49.71                                                              35.05 

Details of dues of Micro and Small Enterprises as defined under The Micro, Small And Medium Enterprises Development (MSMED) Act, 2006

(All amounts in lakhs, unless stated otherwise)
Particulars As at March 31, 2025

(v) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting year                                                                      -                                                                      -   

(ii) Interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the accounting year                                                                      -                                                                      -   

(iii) The amount of interest paid along with the amounts of the payment made to the supplier 
beyond the appointed day

                                                                     -                                                                      -   

(iv) The amount of interest due and payable for the year                                                                      -                                                                      -   

Profit / (loss) During the year

Particular

(vi) The amount of further interest due and payable even in the succeeding year, until such
 date when the interest dues as above are actually paid

                                                                     -                                                                      -   

The Company is into manufacturing arrangement with M/s Manav Breweries Pvt Ltd (controlled manufacturing unit), where the Company maintains control over the
Procurement, Sales, Quality Control, Dispatch, Inventory Risk, Funding etc. Given these factors, the Company has considered itself as “principal” in this arrangement. Even,
the books of the account of the Controlled manufacturing unit is maintained separately by the Company. Consequently, the books of the accounts (trial balance) of the
controlled manufacturing unit is merged with the Company's trial balance including but not limited to products sales, inventory, debtors, creditors, direct & indirect expenses.
The highlights of the controlled manufacturing unit is as under:

In the previous year, the Company had recognized provision for deferred tax in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS-22) “Accounting for Taxes on Income.” 
During the current year, based on the assessment of virtual certainty of future benefits, the Company has changed its accounting policy and has not 
recognized deferred tax provision in the financial statements. Previous years provision of INR 4.25 lacs has been written off.The management believes that 
this change results in a maore appropriate presentation of the financial statements. Consequently, no provision for deferred tax has been made in the 
current year. The effect of this change is that the profit for the year is lower by INR 2.74 lacs and the net assets are lower by INR 5.76 lacs as 
compared to the earlier policy.

31 Segment Reporting (AS-17)

32 

The Company's mainly business is sale of Indian made liquor which consist of revenue more than 98% of total revenue and as such in the opinion of the management this
is the only reportable segment, as per the Accounting Standard 17 on Segment Reporting.     

In the opinion of the Board, the aggregate value of current assets, loans and advances if realised in the ordinary course of business, is not less than the amount at which these
are stated in the Balance Sheet.

30 Earnings Per Share (EPS)

(a) Net Profit for the year (421.49) (283.59)                           
(b) Weighted average Number of Equity Shares outstanding during the period 51,78,915                        3,53,205                         
(c) Basic Earnings Per Share (not annualised) (Rs.) - (a) / (b) -8.14 -80.29                             
(d) Weighted average Number of Convertible Preference Shares outstanding during the period -                                  365.42                            
(e) Diluted Earnings Per Share (not annualised) (Rs.) - (a) / (b+d) -                                  -80.21                             
(e) Nominal Value Per Share (Rs.) 10                                    10                                   
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As at 
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2025

18.25                  -                                  
9.26                    18.25                       
1.63                    -                           
1.62                    -                           

(1.97)                   -                           
28.79                  18.25                              

-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  
-                      -                                  

28.79                  18.25                              
-                      -                                  

28.79                  18.25                              

9.26                    18.25                              
1.63                    -                                  
-                      -                                  

1.62                    -                                  
-                      -                                  

12.51                  18.25                              

The amount recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows

As at 
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2025

4.67                    0.69                                
24.12                  17.56                              
28.79                  18.25                              

Particulars

Present Value obligation at the year Beginning
Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain)/ loss
Benefits paid

Present value of obligation at year end

Gratuity

- Non-current

Particulars

Present value of defined benefit obligation - wholly unfunded
- Current 

Plan assets at year beginning, at fair value
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gain/ (loss)
Contributions
Benefits paid

Plan assets at year end, at fair value

Present Value of contributions at the end of year
Fair value of plan assets as at the end of the year

Net asset/ (liability) recognised in balance sheet

Current Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net Actuarial (gain)/ loss recognised in the year 
Expenses already recognised

Expenses recognised in the statement of Profit and loss

38 Disclosures as per AS - 15 (Revised) (Employee Benefits) 

(A) The company has recognised the following amounts in the Profit and Loss account for the year:

As at 
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2024

18.14                  -                                  
1.06                    -                                  

(B) Defined Benefit Plans:

As at 
March 31, 2025

As at 
March 31, 2025

6.66 % p.a. 7.25 % p.a.
Attrition 10.00% p.a. 10.00% p.a.
Mortality tables IALM 2012-14 IALM 2012-14

24.47 22.3
1.72 1.7

Particulars

Contribution to Provident Fund

The Company provides for gratuity obligations through a defined benefit retirement plan (the Gratuity Plan) covering all the employees. The Gratuity Plan provides a lump
sum payment to vested employees at retirement or termination of employment based on the respective employee salary and years of employment with the Company.
Valuation in respect of Gratuity has been carried out by an independent actuarial consultant, at the balance sheet date based on the following:

Contribution to Employees' State Insurance Scheme

Particulars

Discount rate

Average remaining working life
Average past Service
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(All amounts are in Indian Rupees in lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Note: 39

Related party Disclosure as identified by the management in accordance with the Accounting Standard - 18

Particulars
Enterprises that directly, or indirectly through one 
or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled 
by, or are under common control with, the 
reporting enterprise (this includes holding 
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);

Key management personnel and relatives of such 
personnel; and

Enterprises over which any person is able to 
exercise significant influence

Transactions with related parties during the year:

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Loan Taken                         5.00                335.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              3.50 
Modern Metal Industries LLP                         5.00                335.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Diamond Buildcon Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              1.00 
Mahadev Buildtech Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              2.50 

Loan Repaid                       22.00                359.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                            88.10 
Modern Metal Industries LLP                       22.00                359.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Diamond Buildcon Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              1.00 
Mahadev Buildtech Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                            82.50 
Mahadev Traders Private Limited -                          -                                           -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              4.60 

Salary                             -                           -                   10.00                       -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Avneet Singh                             -                           -                     3.33                       -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Amardeep Singh                             -                           -                     3.33                       -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Balinder Singh                             -                           -                     3.33                       -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   

Convesion to Equity shares                             -                  466.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Modern Metal Industries LLP                             -                  466.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   

Sales                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              6.28 
Modern Hospitality Pvt Ltd                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                              6.28 

Subsidiaries
Enterprises over which any person is 
able to exercise significant influence

Particulars

Name
Modern Metal Industries LLP (Holding Entity)

Mr. Avneet Singh
Mr. Amardeep Singh
Mr. Balinder Singh
Mr. Jasbeer Singh

Diamond Buildcon Private Limited
Mahadev Buildtech Private Limited
Mahadev Traders Private Limited
Modern Hospitality Private Limited

 Ultimate Holding Entity having 
significant influence 

Key Management Personnel 
and their Relatives

Balances outstanding with related parties at year end:

Nature of transaction

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Loan Taken                             -                    17.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Modern Metal Industries LLP                             -                    17.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   

Share Capital                             -                  483.00                       -                     3.00                   -                     -                                  -                                  -   
Jasbeer Singh                             -                           -                         -                     3.00                   -                     -                                  -   
Modern Metal Industries LLP                             -                  483.00                       -                         -                     -                     -                                  -                                  -   

Debtor                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                     -                              6.04                            5.64 
Modern Hospitality Pvt Ltd                             -                           -                         -                         -                     -                     -                              6.04                            5.64 

 Ultimate Holding Entity having 
significant influence 

Key Management Personnel  
and their Relatives

Subsidiaries
Enterprises over which any person is 
able to exercise significant influence
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40.  Ratio analysis

Numerator Denominator Numerator Denominator Numerator Denominator As at
31 March 2025

As at
31 March 2024

(a) Current Ratio Current Assets / Current 
Liabilities

Current Assets = Inventories + Current 
Investment + Trade Receivable + Cash & 
Cash Equivalents + Other Current Assets 
+ Contract Assets + Assets held for Sale

Current Liability = Short term borrowings + Trade Payables + Other 
financial Liability+ Current tax (Liabilities) + Contract Liabilities+ 
Provisions + Other Current Liability

              9,602               4,544          4,990               4,558                   2.11                    1.09 92.97%

Increase in current assets (cash, 
receivables, inventories) compared to 
current liabilities.

(b) Debt-Equity Ratio Debt / Equity Debt= long term borrowing + Short-term 
borrowings

Equity=  Share capital  + Reserve and Surplus               2,095               6,168          3,081                  500                   0.34                    6.17 -94.49%
1. Conversion of Loan to equity during the 
year
2. Issue of CCPS and CCD and their 
conversion
3. Issue of fresh equity

(c ) Debt Service Coverage 
Ratio

Net Operating Income / 
Debt Service 

Net Operating Income= Net profit before 
taxes + Non-cash operating expenses + 
finance cost

Debt Service =  Interest & Lease Payments + Principal Repayments

                -199                  199                  114                  (1.00)                  (1.48) -32.44%
Increase in borrowings at lower interest 
rates, leading to a relative reduction in 
debt service coverage.

(d) Return on Equity Ratio Profit after tax less pref. 
Dividend x 100 / 

Shareholder's Equity

Net Income= Net Profits after taxes – 
Preference Dividend

Shareholder's Equity                 -421 6,168                        -284 500                                  (0.07)                  (0.57) -88.00%

Fresh equity infusion increased 
denominator

(e ) Inventory Turnover Ratio Cost of Goods Sold / 
Average Inventory

Sales (Opening Inventory + Closing Inventory) /2             15,610               1,169        13,222                  450                 13.35                  29.40 -54.58%
Stock level build up to meet the demand in 
season

(f) Trade Receivables Turnover 
Ratio

Net Credit Sales / Average 
Trade Receivables

Sales (Opening Trade Receivables + Closing Trade Receivables) /2             15,675               3,978        13,248               2,171                   3.94                    6.10 -35.43%

Due to extended credit period
(g) Trade Payables Turnover 

Ratio
Net Credit Purchases / 

Average Trade Payables
Purchases (Opening Trade Payables + Closing Trade Payables) /2               4,382                  808          2,842                  332                   5.42                    8.55 -36.57%

Due to extended credit period
(h) Net Capital Turnover Ratio Revenue / Average 

Working Capital
Revenue Average Working Capital=  Average of Current assets – Current 

liabilities
            15,675               2,745        13,248                  127                   5.71                104.32 -94.53% Increase in working capital (mainly 

inventories and receivables) compared to 
sales led to the variation.

(i) Net Profit Ratio Net Profit / Net Sales Net Profit Net Sales                 -417             15,675           -288             13,248                  (0.03)                  (0.02) 22.27%
(j) Return on Capital Employed EBIT / Capital Employed EBIT= Earnings before interest and taxes Capital Employed= Total Assets - Current Liability                 -217               6,168           -173                  500                  (0.04)                  (0.35) -89.85%

(k) Return on Investment Net Profit / Net Investment Net Profit Net Investment= Net Equity                 -417               6,168           -288                  500                  (0.07)                  (0.58) -88.28%

As at
31 March 2024

RatioS No. Ratio Formula Particulars As at
31 March 2025

Variation Reason (If variation is more than 25%)

Capital employed increased substantially 
due to equity infusion and borrowings, 
while EBIT continued to be negative
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41 Other Statutory information

(a) There is no immovable property are held in the name of the company.

(b) No revaluation of the Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right-of- Use Assets) has been done during the year.

(c) 

(d) The Company does not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the company for holding any Benami property.

(e) 

(f) 

(g) 

(h) Name of struck off Company Nature of transactions 
with struck-off 
Company 

Balance outstanding

Nil Nil Nil

(i) 

(j)

No Loans or Advances in the nature of loans are  granted  to   promoters,  directors,  KMPs  and  the  related  parties  (as  defined  under Companies Act, 2013), 
either severally or jointly with any other person.

The company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial Institution or other lender.

Compliance with number of layers of companies 

The company has complied with the number of layers prescribed under clause (87) of section 2 of the Act read with the Companies (Restriction on number of 
Layers) Rules, 2017. 

The Company do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period,

The Company does not have any transactions with companies struck off under section 248 of the Companies Act, 2013 or section 560 of Companies Act, 1956,
except the following company;

Relationship with
the Struck off company, if any, to be 
disclosed
Nil

Compliance with  approved Scheme(s) of Arrangements 

(k) Utilisation of Borrowed funds and share premium: As per our report of even date

For Prakash K Prakash For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants Medusa Beverages Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No. 00415N

Pankaj Kumar Singh Amardeep Singh Avneet Singh
Partner Director Managing Director & CEO
Membership No. 531495 DIN: 07240520 DIN: 06428849
Place : New Delhi
Date : 27 September 2025

(i) The Company has not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Intermediaries) with the 

understanding that the Intermediary shall:

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) 

or

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries"   

   

(ii) The Company has not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether 

recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall:

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate

Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries,"   

(l) Undisclosed income

   

The Company does not have any undisclosed income which is not recorded in the books of account that has been surrendered or disclosed 

as income during the year (previous year) in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other 

relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.   

    

(m) Details of  Crypto Currency or Virtual Currency

The Company has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.   

    

(n) Corporate Social Responsibility   

 As per Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, a company, meeting the applicability threshold, needs to spend at least 2% of its average net 

profit for the immediately preceding three financial years on corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities. Since the Company does not 

meet the applicability threshold, the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable to the Company.    

   

42 The Code on Social Security 2020 (‘the Code’) relating to employee benefits, during the employment and post-employment, has received 

Presidential assent on September 28, 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. Further, the Ministry of Labour and 

Employment has released draft rules for the Code on November 13, 2020. However, the effective date from which the changes are applicable 

is yet to be notified and rules for quantifying the financial impact are also not yet issued.    

    

43 Previous year figures have been regrouped/ reclassified, where necessary, to conform to this year’s classification.   
The Company has not entered into any scheme of arrangement.
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